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Five Year Financial Summary

BZE=A=+—HIEE Year ended 31st March

#4& Results

=

Turnover

RS

Profit from operations
FEEH

Interest expense
FRBERTR R

Profit before taxation
HiE

Taxation

A AR
Profit for the year

FEfREF

Attributable to
PANETLES
Equity holders of the Company
DER RS

Minority interests

EBIZFEl Per share data
BREF GBL)

Earnings per share (HK cents)
V¥ EZK Basic

V #58 Diluted

BREE (B

Dividend per share (HK cents)*
B4 % LL = Financial ratios

YR EEERE

Return on average total assets
FHRRESBIHRE

Return on average shareholders funds
FIE L= (F5)

Interest cover (times)

FIEERLFERREAEESHRE2.08M -

* Dividend per share in 2007 included the special dividend HK2.0 cents per share.

#HE & (&% Balance Sheet
EEHAE

Total assets

BERE

Total liabilities

RO RRREIGER

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
DERRER

Minority interests

—SEAE —TT/\F —TTLE —TTAE —TTIF
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
5,089,931 4,648,386 3,913,835 3,329,670 2,677,599
375,630 413,003 347,951 239,953 183,860
(29,443) (30,215) (26,251) (21,538) (4,626)
346,187 382,788 321,700 218,415 179,234
(82,145) (63,354) (51,982) (21,681) (13,401)
264,042 319,434 269,718 196,734 165,833
224,228 275,183 223,636 168,389 123,150
39,814 44,251 46,082 28,345 42,683
264,042 319,434 269,718 196,734 165,833
41.9 56.7 46.6 35.5 26.3
416 55.9 46.1 352 26.1
25.0 25.0 20.0 14.0 12.0
7.0% 10.1% 10.8% 9.6% 8.8%
13.7% 21.6% 22.4% 20.4% 17.1%
12.8 13.7 13.3 1.1 39.7
A=A =+—8 At 31st March
—SEAF —TT/\F —TTLE —TTAE —TTIF
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
3,239,781 3,203,077 2,263,205 1,876,324 1,620,091
(1,213,905)  (1,574,112) (1,029,518)  (893,103)  (804,962)
2,025,876 1,628,965 1,233,687 983,221 815,129
1,830,396 1,448,777 1,103,808 893,951 759,774
195,480 180,188 129,879 89,270 55,355
2,025,876 1,628,965 1,233,687 983,221 815,129
N/A 10% 14% 28% 31%

FRITEEHRRESL R

Net bank borrowings to shareholders funds

ERCEISEERRDA

—EENE_ZThFEFR
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REBFHHEER Five Year Financial Summary

BRI E &)
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SERENRESHRN 2 hFERMN
Analysis Of Turnover And Profit From Operations
For The Past Five Years

¥ EE Turnover

BZE=A=+—HIEE Year ended 31st March

—RRHRE —BE\F -BBLE —TBAE —BEIF
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Fgx e Fi7 FiBT Fitit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

B
2,976,563 2,745,605 2,241,252 1,973,581 1,584,016

Solvents
=8

. 1,852,881 1,666,336 1,442,874 1,196,034 1,067,872
Coatings
NESN =R

; 257,446 248,656 205,524 219,314 114,877
Lubricants
Hith
- 80,753 103,616 120,727 64,023 22,683
Others
B
Elimination (77,712) (115,827) (96,541) (123,282) (111,849)
'ﬁ)ﬁl 5,089,931 4,648,386 3,913,836 3,329,670 2,677,599

6 ERCLIKBERRAA —TENE-_ZTIFEFH



AN KRR 2 BE DM Analysis Of Turnover And Profit From Operations For The Past Five Years

EXEHE(BEET)
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BRI SRR 2 AEDMH Analysis Of Turnover And Profit From Operations For The Past Five Years

R R Profit from operations

BZE=A=+—HIEE Year ended 31st March

A
Solvents
Coatings
B h
Lubricants

Hith
Others

RZEH

Elimination

R EEBEA
Unallocated corporate income

RoBEEE M

Unallocated corporate expenses

23]
Total

—RRHRE —BE\F -BBLE —TBAE —BEIF
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
FET  TER Fi7 FiBT Fitit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
212,682 250,185 252,324 157,262 155,483
128,112 124,046 88,501 80,568 53,674
(7,284) 9,493 (6,384) (296) (22,742)
6,101 9,461 13,952 5,736 591
(371) (473) 111 (260) 16
339,240 392,712 348,504 243,010 187,022
53,650 45,193 5,375 1,713 750
(17,260) (24,902) (5,928) (4,770) (3,912)
375,630 413,003 347,951 239,953 183,860

ERCLIKBERRAA
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AN KRR 2 BE DM Analysis Of Turnover And Profit From Operations For The Past Five Years
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Review And Prospects

F & Chairman

BELSREE
Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony

Review

It gives me great pleasure to report to all of our shareholders our
business performance for the financial year ended 31 March 2009.
Turnover reached HK$5,089,931,000, representing an increase of 9%
and reaching a historical high, while profit attributable to shareholders
registered HK$224,228,000, which was a decline of 19% over last
year.

The unprecedented financial tsunami commenced in August last
year. Initially, turmoil in the financial markets and a sudden and
drastic tightening of credit gave a tremendous shock to the economy,
followed closely by a reduction in private sector consumption and
a drastic decline in China’s exports. The extent of the impact of this
financial tsunami on the global economy during the third quarter of
the last financial year was hitherto unseen. Operating under such
difficult economic conditions, the Group’s business results were
inevitably affected. However, the Group took timely measures to deal
with the challenges, and after a most difficult third quarter, the Group’
s overall core businesses have basically returned to normal. Taking the
financial year as a whole, turnover continued to climb while profits
showed a temporary reversal, but the Group was able to maintain a
very strong positive cash flow. As at 31 March 2009, the Group had a
net cash position of HK$369,131,000, compared to a net gearing ratio
of 10% at the same time last year, which is a testimony for the Group’
s sound and prudent financial management under such a challenging
economic environment.

A
A
=
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A
A
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Members Of The Board

FEME—MLERRE Chairman’s Statement — Review And Prospects

Review (continued)

Having considered all the relevant factors, the Board recommends
a final dividend of HK17.0 cents per share which, together with the
interim dividend of HK8.0 cents already paid, makes the total dividend
for the year HK25.0 cents per share, unchanged from last year. This
payout would also be the highest dividend payout ratio in recent years.

As far as the Group is concerned, the past year has been one which
has been filled with challenges. Internally, the Group implemented
the new management structure. The newly set up Board Executive
Committee and the Group Management Committee have worked
closely together, yet each according to its defined terms of reference.
After a year of operation, the new structure is now functioning
seamlessly. | am fully confident that this model of having the Board
being responsible for leadership, and the Group Management
Committee being responsible for execution will continue to raise the
standards of corporate governance and set a firm foundation for the
long term healthy development of the enterprise. The many awards
that the Group has won over recent years can be seen as recognition
of the Group's achievements in the area of corporate governance.

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report 11
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Review (continued)

On the external business environment, extreme volatility in raw
materials prices, coupled with rising cost pressures in the first half have
constrained earnings growth to only 2%, despite a turnover growth
of over 30%. In the second half, the global financial crisis inevitably
took its toll, with the export industries in the Pearl River Delta taking
the hardest hit. Moreover, the after-effects of the macro-economic
control measures taken during earlier in the year, the credit crunch,
and the consequent weakness in consumer demand had all impacted
the Group’s businesses, with the impact reaching its peak during
the third quarter. However, with the Central Government taking
effective measures to ease the monetary supply and to accelerate
infrastructure construction projects to reflate the economy, business
conditions improved. Although the export-related businesses were
still weak during the fourth quarter, the businesses which were
catering for domestic demand have all basically returned to normalcy.
Accordingly, the Group believes that the end of the crisis is in sight,
and moreover, within each crisis there are sure to be opportunities.
We believe that a more challenging economic climate will actually
provide more opportunities for the Group to more fully exploit its
competitive advantages. During the past six months, the Group has
taken a series of decisive actions to on the one hand effectively contro
capital expenditure and reduce receivables and inventories, and on
the other to expand the businesses which cater to China’s domestic
demand and to increase the investments in brand building, thus
improving the quality of our earnings. These measures have placed the
Group in a strategically advantageous position to capture the business
opportunities ahead: with a solid financial foundation, the Group is
even better positioned to compete in our target markets. At the same
time, in order to show its commitment to sharing the burden with all
staff during times of hardship, it was unanimously decided to cut the
Board's salaries by 8%.

ERLIKEERAR —EENEZ-ZTNFEFH
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FEHE—OFERREE Chairman’s Statement — Review And Prospects

Prospects

Looking ahead, the Group anticipates that in the aftermath of the
financial tsunami, the global economy will take time to heal. Demand
in Europe and North America will continue to be weak in the days
ahead, hence we cannot be overly optimistic about the outlook for the
export businesses. However, the Chinese Government is continuing
to pursue effective policies to expand domestic demand to reduce its
dependence on exports and to achieve sustained economic growth.
The Group is both optimistic and confident about the Chinese
Government's efforts to pursue growth, and believes that therein lies
our boundless opportunities for continued business development. We
expect that domestic demand as a proportion of our overall business
will grow from the current level of 90% to even higher levels. We
have laid out long term development strategies for further growing
both the scale and brand value of our core businesses: in our raw
solvents business, we have begun construction of our plant in Eastern
China, which together with expansion of our facilities in South China,
will bring our total capacity to 430,000 metric tons, thus becoming
the world’s largest acetate solvents producer while at the same
time expanding our markets from just the Pearl River Delta to cover
the Yangtse Delta as well as the Bohai Basin and the northwestern
hinterland. On the coatings side, we have increased our investments in
brand promotions and also expanded our distribution coverage among
the secondary and tertiary cities and towns, targeting to positioning
ourselves to be among the leading brands in China within the next
three years. Yip’s Chemical is ready: the foundations have been laid;
with China’s continued economic development all but certain, time
will provide the proof that Yip's will continue to grow and bring rich
returns to our shareholders.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to
thank all our employees for their dedicated efforts and outstanding
contribution to the success of the Group, and to thank all our business
partners for their confidence in us and their support.

Ip Chi Shing, Tony
Chairman
Hong Kong, 2 July 2009

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report 13
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CEOQO's Statement — Business Review

TR CEO

Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny
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Solvents

The solvents business reached a record turnover of HK$2,976,563,000,
representing an increase of 8% over last year. However, operating
profits was only HK$212,682,000, which was a decline of 15%. In
the first half of the reporting period, both raw solvents and mixed
solvents benefitted from strong demand and the sustained growth
of the coatings sector, but due to increases in raw materials and
operating costs, profits only showed a slight increase. In the second
half, as a result of the financial turmoil, demand weakened and
prices of chemicals raw materials fell significantly. Consequently, the
solvents business had a brief setback due to inventory loss. Although
the situation has been rectified and the business has basically returned
to normal during the fourth quarter, the business recorded a slight
reduction in operating profit.

ERLIEEERAET —ZENE-ZITAFEFRH
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THHARBE—%£7ERE CEO's Statement — Business Review

Solvents (continued)

The impact of the financial turmoil on the economy and on the
businesses is expected to continue at least in the immediate future.
In the face of tightened credit and a shortage of funding in the
market coupled with extreme price volatility, business conditions were
unusually tough. However, we have been able to turn our ample cash
flow, our long-established and stable relationship with raw materials
suppliers and our economy of scale into significant competitive
advantages, hence we were still able to achieve business growth during
this difficult economic climate. Moreover, since the beginning of 2009,
the relative prices of tapioca and corn have returned to favouring the
tapioca process, allowing the Taixing Chemical plant acquired last
year to return to profitability while at the same time making the case
for producing acetate solvents in Eastern China even more robust.
In order to further develop the Eastern China market, and to build
onto the advantages of vertical integration on the one hand, and
to enhance our economy of scale on the other, we will be investing
HK$70 million to build a 120,000 metric tons manufacturing facility
for acetate solvents. This project is currently under construction, and is
expected to be on-stream within the current financial year. The project
will bring our total capacity for acetate solvents to over 430,000
metric tons, making us the world’s largest acetate solvents producer.
It will also allow us to further improve our competitive advantage in
the acetate solvents market, making us well-placed to take advantage
of the new business opportunities which will emerge as China’
s economy continues to grow. At the same time, our capacities for
mixed solvents is expected to be able to satisfy our requirements in
the foreseeable future, and we fully expect the growth in the coatings
business to further provide impetus for growth of the mixed solvents
business. Meanwhile, we will continue to endeavour to optimize
formulations and to reduce the costs of our mixed solvents through
sustained R&D efforts, with a view to enhancing our margins in this
business.
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Coatings

Despite a difficult operating environment, the coatings business
still recorded steady growth in the past year. Turnover and profits
for the whole year were HK$1,852,881,000 and HK$128,112,000,
representing growth of 11% and 3% respectively. During the first half
of the year under review, the business experienced tremendous price
volatility and costs increases, while in the second half, the business
had to deal with the credit crunch, weakening of demand and a
serious decline in the export markets. In accordance with the Group’
s laid-down strategy for continued development, the coatings division
responded with timely action to: (1) Increase our investment in brand
and promotion, and further expand our distribution network, targeting
to improve the “brand-pull” in our marketing strategy; (2) Emphasize
the development of the domestic Chinese market for both household
and industrial paints. With the continued growth of our business in
Eastern and in North-western China, the impact of the downturn in
the Pearl River Delta has been largely offset; (3) Take timely action to
adopt a more prudent credit management policy to effectively control
the credit risks.
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THHARIRE—%£7ERE CEO's Statement — Business Review

Coatings (continued)

We do not expect the overall operating environment to recover from
the impact of the financial tsunami in near future, especially in the
sector of exports to Europe and to North America. However, with
China taking effective steps to stimulate domestic demand, China’
s economy is expected to be one of the first to recover. We expect
China’s continued strong growth will provide ample opportunities
for the Group’s coatings businesses. To meet the needs of our long-
term business development, we have commissioned the 6-hectare
Tungxiang plant in May this year, thus providing a good production
base for the Group's inks and industrial paints business to further
expand in Eastern China. In the meantime, with the production of
inks moving from Shanghai to Tungxiang, new production lines for
household paints are being added to the original plant in Shanghai
to further increase production capacity for decorative paints to meet
the expanded demands in Eastern and North-western China. At the
same time, the Group will continue to increase its investment in brand
management, and continue to expand its distribution network in the
secondary and tertiary cities and towns. The Group is fully confident
about the prospects for its coatings business, and preparations are in
hand to capture the business opportunities ahead.
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Lubricants

During the period under review, the lubricants business faced a
even more difficult business environment than before. The business
recorded a turnover of HK$257,446,000, 4% higher than a year ago,
but operating results reversed from last year’s profitable position
to an operating loss of HK$7,284,000. Following a series of steps
to restructure the business in recent years, the positive results were
already starting to show, with the first half registering a welcome
increase both in turnover and profits. However, the financial tsunami
during the second half created havoc in both the markets and in the
operating environment. Industrial specialty lubricants faced the brunt
of the impact of demand weakness in the exports markets in South
China hitting many of its customers, while its efforts to develop the
Eastern China market still needs time to come to fruition. At the same
time, automotive lubricants faced demand weakness and cut-throat
competition. The situation was exacerbated by the sudden and drastic
decline in base oil price which forced competitors into a race to reduce
high-cost inventories through price-cutting. Accordingly, the business
turned from a profitable to a loss position in the second half due to a
decline in both turnover and margins.
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THHARBE—%£ERE CEO's Statement — Business Review

Lubricants (continued)

The outlook for the operating environment remains daunting. Raw
material prices have turned higher along with oil prices, but demand
has yet showed no signs of recovery, especially for industrial lubricants.
In the immediate future, the business is expected to continue to face
cost and competition pressures. However, the Group will stay with the
laid-out strategy to continue to restructure the business to consolidate
the gains from synergy between our automotive and industrial
lubricants businesses. For automotive lubricants, the emphasis will
be on building the distribution outlets for the second and third tier
cities and towns and to expand the market for anti-freeze in North
China. For industrial lubricants, the challenge will be to accelerate
market development in Eastern and Northern China, with the goal of
overcoming adversity and reverting once again to profitability through
consolidation and faster market development.

Wong Kam Yim, Kenny
Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 2 July 2009
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The Group continue to implement prudent financial management
strategy with particular emphasis on the control of accounts receivable,
inventory and capital expenditure. As a result of the cash inflow
generated by profit and the net proceeds from the placing of shares
in April 2008, the Group accumulated net cash of HK$369,131,000
as at 31 March 2009. Compared with the gearing ratio of 10% as at
31 March 2008 (as measured by net bank borrowings as a percentage
of equity attributable to equity holders of the Company), the Group’s
financial position is getting stronger and stronger.

As at 31 March 2009, the gross bank borrowings of the
Group amounted to HK$516,853,000 (at 31 March 2008:
HK$875,716,000). Out of this amount, HK$449,464,000 (at 31
March 2008: HK$738,799,000) was repayable within one year, of
which HK$273,920,000 was denominated in Hong Kong Dollars,
HK$143,993,000 in US Dollar and the balance in Renminbi (at 31
March 2008: HK$435,236,000 was denominated in Hong Kong
Dollars, HK$291,002,000 in US Dollar and the balance in Renminbi).
Loans repayable after one year as at 31 March 2009 amounted to
HK$67,389,000 (at 31 March 2008: HK$136,917,000). These loans
carried interest at floating or fixed rates.

As at 31 March 2009, a total of 13 banks in Hong Kong, Macau
and PRC granted banking facilities totaling HK$2,132,788,000 (at
31 March 2008: HK$2,037,988,000) to the Group, of which 68%
were denominated in Hong Kong Dollar, 16% in Renminbi and
the rest US Dollar. In April 2008, the Company successfully raised
net proceeds of HK$268,233,000 by placing 50,000,000 shares to
independent investors at a price of HK$5.50 per share. The shares
issued represented approximately 9.3% of the Company’s enlarged
issued share capital of the Company. The proceeds from this placing
exercise, together with banking facilities available to the Group, will
provide ample funds to the Group to meet its present operational
requirements and organic growth in the coming few years. If major
investment or mergers and acquisitions opportunities emerge in the
future, the Group may obtain funding by either drawing bank loans or
raising funds in the equity market. On the other hand, the Company
spent HK$8,167,000 on repurchasing 3,786,000 shares in the equity
market between February and March 2009. All the shares repurchased
were cancelled subsequently.
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REE S REFEEIR Liquidity And Financial Resources

Since the borrowings of the Group carry interest at floating or
fixed rates, some of our funding costs are subject to interest rate
fluctuation. At the start of the global financial crisis, loss of confidence
among the banks in Hong Kong dried up liquidity in the money
market and pushed up the inter-bank interest rate. It has gradually
returned to normal as Banks gradually regained confidence. Recently,
enormous inflow of hot money has driven the three months or shorter
inter-bank interest rate down to a very low level. Besides that, the
Group is exposed to Renminbi exchange rate risk as the Group's assets
are mainly located in the Mainland China and most of its income is
generated in Renminbi. Renminbi exchange rate had been quite stable
in the past year after a few years of sharp appreciation. It is expected
that economic development in China will remain strong, although the
growth in export surplus and foreign currency reserves was affected
by world recession, the growth trend is expected to continue and the
Renminbi exchange rate will remain stable or appreciate gently. Thus,
the management considers that no hedging measures are necessary
at this stage. The Group will strike a balance between lowering
borrowing cost and minimizing currency exposure by funding its
investments in either Hong Kong Dollar, US Dollar or Renminbi bank
loans.
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The Group's Three Core Businesses Are:

YL
Solvents

Coatings

B H

Lubricants
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Solvents

The solvents division produces environmentally friendly i
organic solvents, which can be grouped into two types: (N raw
solvents, including ethanol, ethyl acetate, normal butyl acetate, mi
butyl acetate, are widely used in industries such as coatings, tanne!
medicine and adhesives; (2) mixed solvents, commonly known a
thinners, are mostly used in the toys, electronics, printing and furniture
industries.

As the Group's largest core business, solvents are produced and sold
through various subsidiaries. With a production capacity of 500,000
metric tons, it is China's largest producer of acetate solvents, while it
ranks third in the world.

Economies of scale, stringent quality control, efficient operations and
strategic locations are all factors that contribute to the success of the
Group's solvents business.
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Coatings

The coatings division is involved in the production and marketing of
domestic architectural and industrial paints, inks, varnishes, and resins,
and serve an extensive range of industries, including construction,
toys, electronics, furniture, food and gift packaging, and printing.
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Paints — Domestic Architectural Paints — Brand name:
“Bauhinia”

“Bauhinia” architectural paints include water-based emulsion paints
and solvent-based paints for wood finishing. As one of the eight
paints awarded the “China Top Brand”, Bauhinia architectural paints
are known for their outstanding performance in quality, reputation,
and customer satisfaction. With enhanced marketing support for
the brand, Bauhinia architectural paints are expected to continue its
steady growth in future. Already one of the leading brands for solvent-
based architectural paints in China, Bauhinia Paints will devote more
resources to expanding its share of the water-based decorative paints
in future.

I/

Paints — Industrial Paints — Brand names: “Bauhinia”,
Adcoat”, “Pak Lam Choice”

“Bauhinia” industrial paints include paints for furniture, toys and
electronic casings. It has passed the very stringent tests by many world’
s famous toy and electronic brand manufacturers, and placed on their
designated lists of suppliers.

"Adcoat” is the brand name for a range of products for the electrical
and electronics industries. It includes a specialty insulating varnish
and a range of PCB printing inks for the electronics industry. ”
Adcoat” is the first insulation varnish to have received the Underwriter
Laboratories (UL) approval in China.

“Pak Lam Choice” is digital electronic coatings used in digital products
and electronic appliances. The product range includes: UV series, PU
series, electroplating effect series etc. “Pak Lam Choice”specializes
in high-quality and special color effect coatings and is widely used by
international renowned electronic manufacturers.
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Coati NgS (Continued)

Inks — Brand names: “Bauhinia Variegata”

Since its establishment in 1998, the inks business has specialized in the
development of plastic printing inks and gravure inks and is the largest
supplier of ink products for the plastic shopping bags and for food
packaging in China today. The business has three strategically well
positioned manufacturing sites in Southern, Eastern, and Northern
China. In recent years, the Group has introduced environmentally
friendly products such as benzene-free and ketone-free inks, alcohol-
based inks and water-based inks in response to market demands.

To further broaden the inks business profile, development of offset
printing inks commenced in 2006, and is expected to provide the
Group's inks business with further impetus for growth in the years
ahead.

Specialty Varnishes — Brand name: “Golaxxo”
"Golaxxo" is a specialty glossy varnish for printing and post-printing
processes. It finds application in the finishes for books, cards and
other stationery, as well as in gift boxes and boxes for toys. Golaxxo is
a leading brand of blister packing varnishes, UV varnishes and paper

laminating glues in China.

Resins — Brand name: “Da Chang”

Resin is a key ingredient in coatings formulations. The resins division,
operated under the "Da Chang” brand, specializes in the production
of resins for paints manufacturing. Although a significant part of the
resins produced by the division is used internally, the majority of the
resins produced are actually sold to third parties. The excellent quality
of Da Chang resins enjoys a good reputation among customers in the
paints industry.
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LA/ Business Profiles

Lubricants

Brands: "Hercules” automotive and industrial lubricants,
and "Pacoil” specialty lubricants

The “Hercules” brand of lubricants includes a comprehensive range
of automotive and industrial lubricants products, which features
engine oils, antifreeze fluid, brake fluid, greases, gear oil, automatic
transmission fluid, hydraulic oil, and turbine oil. “Hercules” successfully
gained approval in The National High Technology Research and
Development Program (863 Program), which aims at developing
specialized methanol fuel engine oil.

“Pacoil” brand of specialty lubricants serve industries such as metal
processing, plastics, automobiles, aeronautics, electronics, electrical
appliances, weaving and timber, as well as watches and clocks. In
addition, the lubricants division also holds the sole distribution rights
in China for many leading global specialty lubricant brands such as
Castrol-Optimol, Castrol-Tribol, Sumico and Milacron.
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ER5B/NE
Ms. Ip Fung Kuen

EFEELE
Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen

Executive Directors

Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony, aged 61, is the co-founder and the
chairman of the Group. Mr. Ip has over 30 years of experience in
the manufacture of and trading in petrochemical products. He is the
brother of Ms. Ip Fung Kuen and Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen, deputy
chairmen and executive directors of the Group. In 2006, Mr. Ip
established “Ip Chi Shing Foundation” with the objectives of fostering
education in China and providing care for the underprivileged groups
in Hong Kong.

Ms. Ip Fung Kuen, aged 57, is the co-founder of the Group. She is
a deputy chairman and an executive director of the Group and is also
the chairman of Hong Kong Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing (Greater
China) Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Group. She has over 20
years of experience in paints manufacturing. She holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Chinese Literature from the National Taiwan University. She
is the sister of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony and Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen,
executive directors of the Group.

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen, aged 50, joined the Group in 1977. He is
a deputy chairman and an executive director of the Group and is also
the chairman of a number of subsidiaries of the Group including Yip’
s Ink and Chemicals (Group) Limited, Jiangmen Handsome Chemical
Development Limited, Jiangmen Thansome Solvents Production
Limited, Huizhou Shengda Chemical Co., Limited and Taixing
Jinjiang Chemical Industry Company Limited. He has over 30 years
of experience in the manufacture of and trading in petrochemical
products. He is the brother of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony and Ms. Ip Fung
Kuen, executive directors of the Group.
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Mr. Young Man Kim, Robert

EBENTHAERE Directors’ And Management Executives’ Profiles

BEEEEE
Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Ting Hon Yam, aged 56, has been an executive director of
the Group since 1994. He is currently responsible for the overall
management of the Group’s business affairs in China. Mr. Ting
joined the Group in 1983 and has over 20 years of experience in the
petrochemical industry.

Mr. Young Man Kim, Robert, aged 61, has been an executive
director of the Group since 2002 and is also the head of corporate
communications department of the Group. Mr. Young received
a Master's degree in Chemistry from the University of California,
Berkeley in 1972 and a MBA from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong's 3-Year MBA Programme in 1981. He has extensive experience
in the petrochemical industry, and was the Director for Hong Kong/
Macau for Shell Hong Kong Limited from 1993 to 2000. He is also
a member of the Executive Committee of the Hong Kong Housing
Society, a member of the Marketing Management Committee of the
Hong Kong Management Association, and the vice chairman and a
member of the Board of Governors of Friends of the Earth (Charity)
Limited.

Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny, aged 48, has been the chief executive
officer of the Group since 1 April 2008. Mr. Wong was appointed
as an executive director of the Group in 2002. He is also the general
manager of Hong Kong Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing (Greater China)
Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Wong graduated
from the University of Sheffield in the United Kingdom in 1987 with a
Bachelor’s Degree in Business Studies and obtained a Master Degree
in Business Administration from the University of Wales in the United
Kingdom in 1988. He joined the Group in 1996 and has over 15 years
of experience in marketing and management.
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FREREE
Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George, aged 51, has been the chief financial
officer of the Group since 1 April 2008. Mr. Ng was appointed as an
executive director of the Group in 1992. Mr. Ng obtained a Higher
Diploma in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known
as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1980. He is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He joined the Group in 1991 and has over 20
years of experience in the field of auditing and accounting.

Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter, aged 52, has been an executive director and
the chief operations officer of the Group since 1 April 2008. Since
joining the Group in 2004, Mr. Li has been the assistant director of the
Group and has also served as a director for a number of subsidiaries
of the Group. He obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical
Engineering from The University of Hong Kong and a Master Degree
in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Li has worked at a multi-national petrochemical company for
over 20 years and has extensive experience in engineering, corporate
planning, marketing and operations.

ERLIKEEERAA —EENEZ-ZTNFEFH



BEREE
Mr. Tong Wui Tung, Ronald

FHATES

BE®REE  RFEL+AR R-IWA=FEZ
ERAEEBYFHTES AN -"S2TNFEH
EREEFITES -BEEERERSE  BE
B BIERATEBA - RER BEER B
SUARMIT AR EE 2 TBAEER - YRR M
FAREEZBRBWHR—REERE - ELERES
BYFEEB=TF  URBBLHARAEEEE
REBRABZBILFHTES -

BAFHITES

ERMESEE  RFL+ -5 R-IWN=FEZ
EREEBYINTES - RABT LRSI
NEEREERBBETMASTENM - BEE
REBFBBAARITERTZ2EF > AR-AN=ZHF
Bk WERABBLETARFE (EE) ARA
RAIZBIUFHITES -

EBENTHAERE Directors’ And Management Executives’ Profiles

BREELE
Mr. Wong Kong Chi

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tong Wui Tung, Ronald, aged 59, was elected as an
independent non-executive director of the Group since 1993 and
was re-designated as a non-executive director of the Group in 2004.
Mr. Tong is a partner of the law firm, Messrs. Cheung, Tong & Rosa,
legal advisers of the Group on Hong Kong Law which receives usual
professional fees in connection with services rendered to the Group.
Mr. Tong has been practising as a solicitor in Hong Kong for over 30
years and is also an independent non-executive director of Country
Garden Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kong Chi, aged 51, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Group since 1993. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Wong retired in 1993 after working in the merchant
banking industry for over 10 years. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Kee Shing (Holdings) Limited, a company listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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FEREE
Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck

Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie, aged 63, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Group since 2004. Mr. Au-
yeung graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1974. He is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Au-Yeung has extensive
experience in management, having held senior executive appointments
in the tertiary education field and the service industry for over 30
years. He is the treasurer of a charitable organization which raises
funds and advocates for the well-being of children. He is also Honorary
Secretary of the Hong Kong Anti Cancer Society.

Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck, aged 62, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Group since 2004. Mr. Li graduated from
Texas A&M University with a Master Degree in Statistics in 1973.
Mr. Li retired in 2004 after having worked in the petrochemical
industry for over 25 years accumulating extensive experience in
logistics, procurement, management, personnel and administration.
He was a representative to the Association of International Chemical
Manufacturers in the 90's to promote safety distribution of hazardous
chemicals. Mr. Li does not hold any directorship in other listed
companies.
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HEELE
Mr. Zhao Chu Bang

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy, aged 57, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Group since 1 July 2008. Mr. Ku graduated
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) and began his career at Shell Chemicals. Mr.
Ku has extensive managerial experience in the oil & petrochemical
industries in the Greater China region. He was a Director of Shell
Hong Kong Limited, a Board Director of the Business Environment
Council and the Chairman of Tianjin International Petroleum Storage
and Transportation Company Limited. Mr. Ku does not hold any
directorship in other listed companies.

Management Executives

Mr. Kwong Kwok Chiu, aged 44, joined the Group in 1987 and
served at various subsidiaries and departments of the Group. He is
currently the general manager of Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals
(Zhongshan) Limited, Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals (Zhejiang)
Limited and Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals (Hebei) Limited,
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Kwong obtained a
Master Degree in Business Administration from The Open University of
Hong Kong in 2003.

Mr. Zhao Chu Bang, aged 47, is an experienced engineer. He
joined the Group in 1993 and has been the managing director of the
Jiangmen Handsome Chemical Development Limited since 2005. Mr.
Zhao has over 20 years of experience in the chemical industry and has
extensive experience in management.
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BRIEESEE
Mr. Chan Chuen Sang, Raymond

Management Executives (continued)

Mr. Huang Guan Song, aged 54, has been the general manager of
Hang Cheung Petrochemical Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group, since 2006. He graduated from the South China University
of Technology in 1982. He joined the Group in 1987 and has over 20
years of experience in the management of the petrochemical industry.

Mr. Leung Wing Ching, Isaac, aged 41, is the financial controller of
the Group. Mr. Leung is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy
with the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Leung joined the Group
in 1996 and has over 10 years of experience in the field of auditing,
finance and management.

Mr. Chan Chuen Sang, Raymond, aged 32, joined the Group as
an executive management trainee in 2003 and served at various
subsidiaries and departments of the Group. He is currently the
assistant to the chief executive officer of the Group, and serves as the
purchasing manager of the lubricant business of the Group. He has
been invited to be a member of the Group Management Committee
since 1 April 2009. Mr. Chan obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in
Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
and a Master Degree in Business Administration from The Hong
Kong University of Science & Technology; he is also a certified public
accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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EBERE/NE
Ms. Yau Ching Man, Winnie

Management Executives (continued)

Mr. Wong Man Chun, Steman, aged 41, joined a company in the
special lubricants industry in 1990 and was the China marketing
and business manager in 1992. His duties were mainly for the China
business development and management work. In 1995, he established
a company named “Pacific Oil & Chemical Company Limited”, a
subsidiary of the Group since 2005, and has been the managing
director of that company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in 2005.

Mr. Huang Guang De, aged 44, joined the Group in 1994, has been
the general manager of Hui Yang Da Chang Industrial Limited (now
known as Dachang Polymers (Huizhou) Ltd.) since 2006. Mr. Huang
graduated from the Department of Chemistry, Zheng Zhou University
in 1984, is a patent agent authorized by the State Intellectual Property
Office of the People’s Republic of China and a member of the Safety
Production Expert's Group of Huizhou City, holds a Certificate of
Senior Management Consultant from American International Training
Association, and has completed a course in business administration
and a course in project management at Tsing Hua University. Before
joining the Group, he has worked in government departments,
research institutes and chemical factories with extensive experience in
management.

Ms. Yau Ching Man, Winnie, aged 26, has been the general
manager of Best Lubricant Blending Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, since February 2009. Ms. Yau graduated from
The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor's Degree in Computer
Engineering in 2005 and then joined the Group as the executive
management trainee. She was the marketing manager of Best
Lubricant Blending Limited in 2007.
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As at 31 March 2009, there were a total of 4028 employees, of
which 138 were from Hong Kong, and 3890 were based in different
provinces in the PRC.

The Group places a high degree of emphasis on the management
of human capital, from the identification of the talent pool, to
providing training and development and all the way to offering proper
opportunities for them to perform to their fullest potential. Through
both in-house and external training programs, on-the-job training, and
participation in subsidized educational courses, employees are able
to improve their performance and enhance their value to the Group.
We offer excellent opportunities for development for those employees
who have the potential and the commitment, regardless of their
background, geographical region, or educational levels. The current
management of the Group includes some who have started from junior
positions and have come through the ranks to advance to positions of
management. In addition to promotion from within, the Group also
seeks to attract talent from outside. The Group also recruits from the
best tertiary institutions in Hong Kong, in the Mainland, and abroad
and provides them with training and development opportunities. The
Group has been running this Management Trainee program for some
years, and some of the former trainees have already advanced to
positions of leadership within the Group, either as a General Manager
of a subsidiary or a member of the Group Management Committee.

The Group offers a challenging work environment, and has a variety
of programs to encourage employees to strive for their best and to
upgrade their skills in order that the Group has sufficient talent to
move forward and to continue its business development. Based on
references to the relevant market data, the Group seeks to provide
reasonable and competitive remuneration packages which include
basic salary and performance-based bonuses and stock options to
attract and retain good performers.
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The Group sees corporate social responsibility as a long term,
meaningful commitment and is dedicated to fulfilling its corporate
social responsibilities. The core of our CSR practice is to engage all our
employees, clients, suppliers, and business partners to bring about
positive changes to the communities which we live. The Group’s CSR
initiatives include education, environment, product custodianship, and
other philanthropic projects.

As our business is chemicals manufacturing, attention to safety is
paramount in all our operations. The Group is also a keen supporter of
charitable causes. Each year, the Group organizes and participates in
various events such as Green Christmas, tree planting, and marathon
etc.

The Group is also dedicated to fulfill its obligations of good corporate
citizenship and participated in charity projects in China. In September
2008, through the Asian Foundation for the Prevention of Blindness,
Yip's Chemical donated a mobile eye surgery centre to the Ningxia
Hui Autonomous Region. The more than HK$2.2 million mobile eye
surgery centre will be able to perform cataract removal and implants
of artificial lenses for between 1,500 to 2,000 cataract patients a year
to help them restore sight and color vision. The Group is confident
that the mobile eye surgery centre is an effective platform to help the
patients in the rural areas and provide them with the eye treatment.

ASIA'S
BEST
COMPAMNIES
2009

Yip's Chamical

112 s Wit

Awards

FinanceAsia's "2009 Asia's Best Managed Companies
Poll" — Hong Kong

In May 2009, Yip's Chemical was ranked fifth in “Best Investor
Relations”, and tenth in “Best Corporate Governance” in FinanceAsia’
s 2009 Asia’s Best Managed Companies Poll. This is the second
consecutive year that the company was honoured in the regional poll.
The recognition represents endorsement of the investment community
for the Group's efforts to grow Yip’s Chemical into an excellent
business and well-governed corporation.
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Statement of Compliance

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance so as to achieve the Group’s objectives of maximizing
values for its employees, customers, suppliers, business partners and
shareholders, and safeguarding the interests of them. The Company
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code") of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout
the year ended 31 March 2009 except for the deviation from Code
provision A.5.4 in relation to the compliance of the Model Code
as mentioned in the paragraph headed “Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors” below.
The Board

The Board's principal duties are setting policies, monitoring the
execution of such policies, and providing supervision and assistance

to the overall management of the Group.
Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises a total of thirteen Directors, including
eight executive, one non-executive and four independent non-
executive Directors. All non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific terms of two
years, subject to re-election. The composition of the Board has gone

through the following changes since 31 March 2008:
(1) Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony resigned as the managing Director on
1 April 2008 but he remains as an executive Director and

chairman of the Board;

(2) Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny, the existing executive Director,

was appointed as chief executive officer on 1 April 2008;

(3) Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George, the existing executive Director, was

appointed as chief financial officer on 1 April 2008;
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The Board (Continued)
Composition of the Board

(4) Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter was appointed as an executive Director

and chief operations officer on 1 April 2008; and

(5) Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy was appointed as an independent

non-executive Director on 1 July 2008.

Biographic details of the Directors are set out in the section of
Directors’ And Management Executives’ Profiles on pages 30 to 37.
Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony, is the brother of Ms. Ip Fung Kuen and Mr.
Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen. Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not

otherwise related to each other.

The Company has also received annual confirmations from all four
Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of their independence
as setoutin rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. One of the Independent Non-
executive Directors possesses the appropriate professional accounting

qualifications and related financial management experience.

The Board regularly reviews its composition and membership to ensure
that it possesses the necessary skills, experience and diversity to
discharge its responsibilities effectively. Currently, the Board assumes
the responsibilities of the nomination and appointment of new

directors.
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The Board (Continued)

Operation of the Board

Director at these meetings is shown in the table below:

During the year ended 31 March 2009, twelve *regular and other

Board meetings were held by the Board. The attendance of each

ExgRERER EXSHMESR

Regular Board Meetings Other Board Meetings
= Director Attendance Attendance
BITEE Executive Directors:

BEEREE Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony 4/4 8/8

EES/ME Mes. Ip Fung Kuen 4/4 8/8

BErEgs Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen 4/4 8/8

TEREE Mr. Ting Hon Yam 4/4 8/8

BR&ELE Mr. Young Man Kim, Robert 4/4 8/8

"EEELE Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny 4/4 8/8

RIBFRE Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George 4/4 8/8

FRERAE Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter 4/4 8/8
(R=ZZN\FNA—BEZHT) (appointed on 1 April 2008)

FERITES : Non-executive Director:

BEREE Mr. Tong Wui Tung, Ronald 4/4 8/8

WIAFRITES : Independent Non-executive Directors:

BHERLE Mr. Wong Kong Chi 4/4 8/8

BGEHLE Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie 4/4 8/8

FEREE Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck 4/4 8/8

HEEAE Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy 3/3 8/8
(R=ZEN\F+A—BEZMT) (appointed on 1 July 2008)

* ARNARKTEERNEZTERIT-REEHLE * Four Regular board meetings were held approximately quarterly during

THUXRESEEREE  2HESHYERS
FEBAMEFERAAXNLEREEBSE -
REFTESERGREN  ESFTRLEE
THEAHESSEMEE  UHERESEHK
R ESEEREFTEIRZEH -
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timely attention.

ERILIEEER2A ZFFENEZE

the year which involve the active participation, either in person or
through other electronic means of communications, by all of the
directors. Besides the Regular board meetings, other board meetings
were convened from time to time during the year for the Board to

approve routine business or discuss matters that require the Board's
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The Board (Continued)
Operation of the Board

The Group has adopted procedures for the Directors to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expenses. New directors are offered a comprehensive,

formal and tailored induction upon appointment.

The roles of Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and Company
Secretary, held by Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George, ensure that the Directors
have ready access to all necessary information and that all Board
procedures are followed. Mr. Ng is also responsible for offering
opportunities of continuing professional development to all Directors
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to help ensure that

their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Delegation by the Board

Effective 1 April 2008, the Company has implemented a new
management structure. Under the new structure, a new committee,
the Board Executive Committee, under the Board was established,
and three new roles, the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO"), the
Chief Financial Officer (the “CFO") and the Chief Operations Officer
(the "COO") were created with clearly defined responsibilities and
accountability. The Board Executive Committee comprises of all the
executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony, the
former Managing Director of the Company. The Board Executive
Committee acts as an active overseeing body, with its focus on
setting long term strategies for the Group and monitoring and
evaluating the implementation of those strategies, supervising the
management team of the Group, as well as regularly reviewing the
Group’s governance structure and setting policies and guidelines
to ensure the proper running of the Group. With his former role
of managing the daily operations of the Company transferred to
Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny, the CEO, Mr. Ip’s role is more distinctly
defined and can concentrate on leading and ensuring the proper

functioning of the Board and the Board Executive Committee.
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The Board (continued)
Delegation by the Board

A formal schedule of matters reserved for the Board is maintained

and is subject to regular review. Those matters include:

° setting of long term objectives and strategies

. approval of preliminary announcements of results

o approval of annual budgets

. approval of major capital expenditure, acquisitions and
disposals

. establishment of risk management policies

o approval of connected transactions

. declaration and recommendation of the payment of
dividends

. appointment of new directors

° establishment of Board committees

. review and monitoring of internal control and risk
management

. approval of major policies and guidelines

In relation to the day-to-day operations of the Group, including
matters that are not reserved for the Board, the Board has delegated
its principal executive responsibilities to the Group Management
Committee (the “GMC"), which comprises the members of the core
management team, Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny (CEO), Mr. Ng Siu
Ping, George (CFO) and Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter (COO), and five senior
management executives, namely, Mr. Kwong Kwok Chiu, Mr. Zhao
Chu Bang, Mr. Huang Guan Song, Mr. Leung Wing Ching, Isaac and
Mr. Chan Chuen Sang, Raymond. The GMC operates under a clearly
defined set of Terms of Reference and normally meets on a monthly
basis. It is also responsible for executing the policies and implementing
strategic plans, supervising the performance of the business units,

and ensuring targets sets by the Board are met.

The Board also delegates certain responsibilities to the Remuneration

and Audit Committees as described below.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The Remuneration Committee, which comprises one Non-executive
Director and four Independent Non-executive Directors, is chaired by
Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie and was formed in June 2005. Major

roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

o making recommendation to the Board on the Group’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior

management

o determining the remuneration packages of all Executive

Directors and senior management

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the Company's website and from the Company Secretary on

request.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Remuneration Committee
held three formal meetings and the attendance of each member at

this meeting is shown in the table below:

%
Member Attendance
Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie 3/3
Mr. Wong Kong Chi 3/3
Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck 3/3
Mr. Tong Wui Tung, Ronald 3/3
Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy 2/2

(appointed on 1 July 2008)
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior
I\/Ianagement (Continued)

In these meetings, the Remuneration Committee:

o reviewed the principles of the remuneration structure, the
policy and the levels of remuneration paid to the Group’s
Executive Directors and senior management, with reference to

market remuneration levels of comparable listed companies

o reviewed and approved remuneration of newly appointed

senior management and directors

The share options granted to selected Directors and senior
management of the Group in October 2008 was also approved
by way of a resolution in writing signed by all members of the

Remuneration Committee.

Directors’ emoluments comprise payments to Directors by the
Company and its subsidiaries in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries. The amounts paid
to each Director of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2009

are shown in Note 7 to the financial statements.
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Accountability and Audit
Directors’ and Auditors’ responsibilities

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Group and their announcements to
shareholders and commit to the presentation of a balanced, clear
and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s performance, position
and prospects. The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue

as a going concern.

The Auditors’ reporting responsibilities are stated in the Independent

Auditors’ Report on pages 63 to 65.

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was formed in November 1998 and currently
comprises one Non-executive Director and four Independent Non-
executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Wong Kong Chi. Major roles
and functions of the Audit Committee include:

o reviewing financial information of the Group

. overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system and internal

control procedures

° monitoring of the relationship between the Group and its

external auditors

The Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee are available on the

Company’s website and from the Company Secretary on request.
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Accountability and Audit (continued)
The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee met four times during the year ended 31

March 2009 and the attendance of each member at these meetings

is shown in the table below:

Member Attendance
Mr. Wong Kong Chi 4/4
Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie 4/4
Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck 4/4
Mr. Tong Wui Tung, Ronald 4/4
Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy 3/3
(appointed on 1 July 2008)
In these meetings, the Audit Committee:
° reviewed the interim and annual results of the Group before

their approval by the Board and in doing so, the committee
focused on material deviations of the Group’s performance
from past year's results, major areas of judgement, selection
and application of accounting policies and compliance with

regulatory requirements

o received reports from the internal audit department, discussed
material findings with the head of internal audit and approved

the internal audit plan

o discussed the audit plan with the Group’s external auditors
and assessed its independence with reference to its policies
for maintaining independence and reviewed the extent of

non-audit services provided
An audit committee meeting was held on 26 June 2009 to review

the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year

ended 31 March 2009.
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Accountability and Audit (continued)
Internal Control

The Board has delegated to management the responsibilities of
designing and implementing an appropriate system of internal
controls to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations and

compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The internal audit department was set up in 1997 to monitor
independently the implementation of the internal control procedures
and to make recommendations on the effectiveness of the internal
control system. The head of internal audit reports directly to the
Chief Executive Officer (with effect from 1 April 2008) and the Audit

Committee.

During the year, the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control of the Group following the Guidance
Note on the Group’s Internal Control System revised in 2008. The
revised internal control system require the active and frequent
participation by the general manager of each subsidiary company in
identifying risks affecting its business and implementing measures to
reduce such risks, as well as the active monitoring by the subsidiary
management committee of the progress of the improvement in
internal control procedures. The Board Executive Committee and the
CEO, CFO and COO of the Company are also involved proactively in
the process of identifying risks and ensuring the implementation of

remedial procedures.

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report 49



EERIM|E Corporate Governance Report

BMERZE®)
BRREZHe

BE-_ZEZhF=ZA=+t—ALBHEE ©
%/ EBAFREEZBEEY BHERSIS
FHEITZEANT

PRtz BR#%

E R
BRI
R ARES
FEH RS
BERNEE

EEETRESXZNEREESTH

AABCHRABR ETRAME T BB LD
RAEBETESXINBEETA(EES
A -R=ZZBENF+—-A REAXTER
BETE ARANTESERTERE - BR
AMERBRERICITE)RENRAQAM
EBEZZENFAA=THLERNEAXEER
SRHMA—EA(THELEERD - TR AR
THENZE  BTESESZRAERTHNE
REBSZENZLEERR - Bt - HEER
BHRERREHZHERZLESH MmO
ARFTESHRMEER TEETH - AL
AIEHBIRFANESRTAEMRETREST
AMFHER  ME2BESTEA - REXFL
BN 2RESYHEZ2EREETAME

ZRELER -

50

Accountability and Audit (continued)
Auditors’ Remuneration
For the financial year ended 31 March 2009, the fee paid/payable

to the Group’s external auditors, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,

is set out as follows:

g2 B

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

FET

HK$'000

Audit services 3,550
Non-audit services

Taxation services 354

Interim review 620

Audit of provident fund 18

Model Code for Securities Transaction by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. In November 2008, share options were offered
to Executive Directors of the Company under the Company’s share
option scheme. The offer was made (at which time the terms of
the share options were fixed) more than one month preceding the
date on which the Company approved its results announcement for
the 6 months ended 30 September 2008 (the “black-out period”).
However, as a result of administrative arrangements, the acceptances
by the Executive Directors of their respective offers were made within
the black-out period. Accordingly, the grant of such share options
were technically made during the black-out period and the Company
and the Executive Directors were in breach of the Model Code. After
making specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that, save for the
incident described above, they have fully complied with the required

standard set out in the Model Code.
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Investor Relations and Communication
with Shareholders

The Group's Corporate Communications Department aims to enhance
its relationships with the public and its shareholders. The department
acts as a bridge between the Group and the investing public, always
seeking to maintain a high level of transparency and promoting a
better understanding of the Group by the investment community,

thereby promoting a positive image of the Group.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as

the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2009.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture of and trading in

solvents, coatings and lubricants.
Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2009 are set out in the consolidated income
statement on page 66 and note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively. An interim dividend of HK8.0 cents per
share was paid to the shareholders during the year. The Directors
propose a final dividend of HK17.0 cents per share, estimated to
be HK$91,032,000 and the retention of the remaining profit in

reserves.
Share Capital

Details of movements in the issued share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial

statements.
Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 69 to

the consolidated financial statements.
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Reserves (continued)

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium, special reserve and retained profits. Under Chapter 22
of the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, the share premium
of the Company is available for distribution or paying dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles
of Association and that immediately following the distribution or
dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business. In accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association, dividends can be distributed out of the share
premium and retained profits of the Company, which amounted to
HK$715,717,000 at 31 March 2009 (2008: HK$413,439,000).

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2009 are

set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors and Service Contracts

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony, Chairman
(resigned on 1 April 2008 as Managing Director)
Ms. Ip Fung Kuen, Deputy Chairman
Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen, Deputy Chairman
Mr. Ting Hon Yam
Mr. Young Man Kim, Robert
Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny
(appointed on 1 April 2008 as Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George
(appointed on 1 April 2008 as Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter
(appointed on 1 April 2008 as Executive Director
and Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive director:

Mr. Tong Wui Tung, Ronald

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Wong Kong Chi

Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie

Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck

Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy (appointed on 1 July 2008)

In accordance with the provisions of the Company's Articles of
Association, Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony, Ms. Ip Fung Kuen, Mr. Yip Tsz Hin,
Stephen and Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George, being executive Directors, and
Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck, being independent non-executive Director,
will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election as Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and in the case of Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck, for a specific
term of two years. All remaining Directors will continue in office. At
the annual general meeting last year, the non-executive Director, Mr.
Tong Wui Tung, Ronald, and the independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Wong Kong Chi, Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie and Mr. Ku Yuen

Fun, Andy, were appointed for a specific term of two years.
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Directors and Service Contracts (continued)

No Director being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
or its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory

compensation).

The fees of the non-executive and independent non-executive

Directors are determined by the Board of Directors (the “Board”).

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in Securities

As at 31 March 2009, the interests of the Directors and their
respective associates in the shares (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which are required
(a) to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of the Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have taken under such provision
of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in the register to be kept pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers to be notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests

and Short Positions in Securities (continued)

He Long positions
BRARE
ZEA
Percentage of
BARE KR NAER the issued
Personal Family Corporate B share capital of

ESpE Name of Director interests interests interests Total  the Company

EEHLE Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony 175,223,932 2,000,000(a)  10,000,000(b) 187,223,932 34.95%

EBEM Ms. Ip Fung Kuen 58,000,000 - - 58,000,000 10.83%

ETHEE Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen 37,100,000 20,000,000(c) - 57,100,000 10.66%

TESEE Mr. Ting Hon Yam 200,000 - - 200,000 0.04%

BREBZE Mr. Young Man Kim, Robert 2,102,000 - - 2,102,000 0.39%

BEORAL Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny 208,000 - - 208,000 0.04%

RATRE Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George 1,632,000 50,000(d) - 1,682,000 0.31%

ZEREE Mr. Li Wan Man, Peter

(R=ZZNFMA-REZHL) (appointed on 1 April 2008) - - = - -

BERAE Mr. Tong Wui Tung, Ronald - 700,000(e) - 700,000 0.13%

EREE M. Wong Kong Chi - 100,000(f) - 100,000 0.02%

BEEDEE Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie - - - - -

FERGE M. Li Chak Man, Chuck 150,000(g) 19 - 150,000 0.03%

BEFEE Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy

(RZEENELA-HEZM) (appointed on 1 July 2008) 20,680 764,000(h) - 784,680 0.15%

FEE Notes:

(a) HWERMAZESREEZZEFRERZLTE () These shares are held by Madam Liang Bih Yu, the wife of Mr. Ip Chi
e Shing, Tony.

(b) HERPH-—BESKESESERAA (b) These shares are held by Mr. Ip Chi Shing Charitable Foundation
(TR 2REHEFE  EXREEES Limited (the “Foundation”), a charitable organisation. Mr. Ip Chi
DEHSEETRRERAG 2R ERA50%(H Shing, Tony controls 50% (together with his wife control 100%)
HEFHEBEZREEALB100%) REAL of the voting power at the general meeting of the Foundation and
WRARBEZESHERERD 2% - he is therefore deemed to be interested in these shares held by the

Foundation.

(c) HERNBEFHAEZEZFEEREL T () These shares are held by Madam Yip Tso Ka Lai, Brenda, the wife of
5H - Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen.

(d) HERDHARBIEEEZZFRERENLZLE ) These shares are held by Madam Siu Oi Li, Maicy, the wife of Mr. Ng
Ao Siu Ping, George.

(e) HEROBEEEREEZZFEABLLZLEE (o) These shares are held by Madam Lau Mui Sum, the wife of Mr. Tong

B
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Waui Tung, Ronald.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in Securities (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(f) These shares are held by Madam Jim Siu Wai, the wife of Mr. Wong
Kong Chi.
(9) These shares are jointly held with Madam Cheng Yee Ha, the wife of

Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck.

(h) These shares are held by Madam So Yim Ha, the wife of Mr. Ku Yuen
Fun, Andy.

Details of the share options granted to and held by the Directors
under the Company’s existing share option scheme are shown in the

next section headed “Share options”.

Each of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony, Ms. Ip Fung Kuen, Mr. Yip Tsz Hin,
Stephen and Madam Liang Bih Yu, the wife of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony,
holds one non-voting deferred share of Yip's H.C. (Holding) Limited,

a subsidiary of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above and certain nominee shares
in subsidiaries held by directors in trust for the Company or its
subsidiaries, at 31 March 2009, none of the Directors, chief executives
nor their associates held any interests or short positions in the
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations as
defined in the SFO.

Share Options

On 3 September 2002, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the "Existing Scheme”) which will expire on 2 September 2012 in
order to comply with the terms of Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange. Particulars of the
Existing Scheme are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial

statements.

During the year, movements in the number of options which have
been granted to certain Directors and employees under the Company’s

Existing Scheme are as follows:

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report 57



#FESGHRE Directors Report
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1

Directors

ESHELE

Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony
EERB/IMA

Ms. Ip Fung Kuen

ETHLE

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen
TEREE

Mr. Ting Hon Yam
BREBAE

Mr. Young Man Kim, Robert
BEREEE

Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny

RETEE
Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George

REREE

Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter
(R=BE)\EMA-HEZME)
(appointed on 1 April 2008)

=h
Employees
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RiLAH
Date of grant

“ZE\EtA=1-H
31 October 2008
“EZLEMAZA

3 April 2007
“ZE\EtA=1-H
31 October 2008
ZEENETA=T-H
31 October 2008
“EZ/\5t+A=1-H
31 October 2008
“ZE\EtA=1-H
31 October 2008
ZEE-ET-ATMA
14 November 2002
—EEMERATEA
17 May 2004
‘§§£$+H +MEA
24 October 2005
“EZLEMAZH

3 April 2007
“ZE\EtA=1-H
31 October 2008
ZEE-ET-ATMA
14 November 2002
“EEMERATEA
17 May 2004
‘§§£$+H +HEA
24 October 2005
“EZLEMAZH

3 April 2007
“ZE\EtA=1-H
31 October 2008
“ZEMERATtA
17 May 2004
Zi‘?ﬁﬁ’ﬁ TIA
24 October 2005
—ETLEMA=A

3 April 2007

—% 7)\¢+HE+_H
31 October 2008

ZEEZ-ET-ATMEA
14 November 2002
—ZEMERATtA
17 May 2004
_i'glfﬁ’ﬁ NB

8 October 2004
“EZRF+A-tMA
24 October 2005
“EZLEMAZH

3 April 2007
“EENETA=T-H
31 October 2008

Share Options (continued)

Ti%E
Exercise
price
BT
HKS

1.950

4.050
1.950

1.950

1.950

1.590
2.004
4.050
1.950

BRERE
Number of share options
o T

RIZENE FRE AR AR/EB F ,zne

mA— Bil % lapsed/ ZA=T-—
R Granted Exercised cancelled ﬁ*ﬁﬁ
Outstanding during during during  Outstanding
at 1.4.2008 the year the year the year  at 31.3.2009
- 100,000 - - 100,000
200,000 - - - 200,000
- 100,000 - - 100,000
- 100,000 100,000 - -
- 100,000 - - 100,000
- 100,000 - - 100,000
500,000 - - - 500,000
300,000 - - - 300,000
200,000 - - - 200,000
200,000 - - - 200,000
- 100,000 - - 100,000
500,000 - - - 500,000
300,000 - - - 300,000
200,000 - - - 200,000
200,000 - - - 200,000
- 100,000 - - 100,000
100,000 - - - 100,000
200,000 - - - 200,000
200,000 - - - 200,000
- 100,000 - - 100,000
3,100,000 800,000 100,000 - 3,800,000
100,000 - - - 100,000
625,000 - 200,000 - 425,000
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
1,886,000 - 692,000 - 1,194,000
5,208,000 - 540,000 88,000 4,580,000
- 4,504,000 92,000 - 4,412,000
9,819,000 4,504,000 1,524,000 88,000 12,711,000
12,919,000 5,304,000 1,624,000 88,000 16,511,000
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BREXFREEN  RFEREAERD - 227
FEHEMAWBLARRESEEMAZH  UEE
EERBALAREANHEMEABRE Z2ROH
BEHxmEs o

BREXFIIREEN  FRARESRABBR +
NBUT 2 F TP EEAMERURBARRT 2
"o RBITEEAZEEF -

FERR

REZZBZEANF=ZA=+—H REXHKRESR
BETES2ERN  REFZRAEREAE
3BMEREFZEBRRER EXAWENERL R
EEYBRSETRAEMNBLEMAT T3
RREASARDREEA LT BHITRAESR
BBz EER

e

RER A

Name of g%
substantial shareholder Capacity

FMR LLC

Held by controlled corporation (Note)
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Share Options (continued)

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before
the grant of options on 31 October 2008 was HK$1.920. Weighted
average closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before

the dates on which the options were exercised was HK$4.934.

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors, or their spouses
or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the
securities of the Company, or had exercised any such right during

the year.
Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2009, the register of substantial shareholders (other
than the Directors or chief executives of the Company disclosed
above) maintained under Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other
than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors,
the following shareholder had notified the Company of relevant
interests in the issued share capital of the Company under Section

336 of the SFO:

Long positions

RZZEZNF
=A=+-—H
HEBITRA
ZBEDL
Percentage

of the issued

iz & E share capital
Number of of the Company
shares held as at 31.3.2009
27,212,000 5.08%

BEEHQREE (M)
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M REFSFREPEHRE FMC LLCERAES
27,212,000 A R B M BAD 2 B - THEH
Fidelity Management & Research Company
% 526,000,0008% * Fidelity Management
Trust CompanyE&Pyramis Global Advisors

LLCRI#A1,212,0008% °

BREXFIEEN RZBBAF=ZA=+—
B BRIUNE-HIEERESTHRAERE
SeRERARIEREZERN  BIEAL
BHARXNRIEREERDRRG P HEHER K
REERBRESRPEMRHIEIZMHRER -

BE -HEFEEARFZEL
™ 3% 35

FR ARAAEBIAMBEAQTRGEH
3,786,0008% + 42 1{& %8,167,000& 5t » F# 18
BRGEMBHRENT26 - EZERAELT
BROUBREBREEFEZINBEEMS LR
g BEBEROUTRSAXARDZEBREE
FE BEZHEBOT

15,/ BB
Month/year

February 2009
—EEhF=A
March 2009

BULLFBEESN A DREEANE LD
REMBRIE - HERBEEAD T2 EA L
GELE
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Substantial Shareholders (continued)
Note:  Under SFO, FMR LLC was deemed to be interested in 27,212,000
shares of the Company, of which 26,000,000 shares were held by
Fidelity Management & Research Company and 1,212,000 shares
were held by Fidelity Management Trust Company and Pyramis Global
Advisors LLC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, no person, other than the
interests disclosed above in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Securities”, had notified the Company
of an interest or short position in the shares of the Company that was

required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company'’s Listed Securities

During the year, the Company repurchased 3,786,000 shares at an
aggregate consideration of HK$8,167,000 on the Stock Exchange,
details of which are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Directors consider that the Company’s shares were
trading at a discount to the net asset value per share, the repurchase
would increase the net asset value per share of the Company. Details

of the repurchase are as follows:

LB S BRAE BRAMAE
#HE BeE RIEE
Number Highest Lowest wrE
of shares price paid price paid Aggregate
repurchased per share per share consideration
BT BT FET
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
80,000 2.10 2.10 168
3,706,000 2.25 2.05 7,999

3,786,000 8,167

Other than as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities during the year.
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Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total

turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 31% of the Group’s total
purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier accounted for approximately 15% of the Group’s total

purchases.

As at 31 March 2009, none of the Directors, their associates or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) has any interest in the Group’s

five largest suppliers.
Corporate Governance

Report on the Company’s corporate governance are set out in

“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 40 to 51.
Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, throughout the year
ended 31 March 2009 and at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s total issued shares
capital as required under the Rules Governing the Listing Securities

on the Stock Exchange.
Donations

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations

amounting to HK$2,800,000.
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Connected Transactions and Directors’
Interests In Contracts

During the year, the Group paid rent of HK$960,000 and HK$600,000
to Goldex Investments Limited and Galsheer Investments Limited
respectively in which Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony and Mr. Yip Tsz Hin,

Stephen, the Directors, have beneficial interests, respectively.

Other than disclosed above, no contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director and a controlling shareholder of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year.
Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata

basis to listing shareholders.
Auditor

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to
re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board
Ip Chi Shing, Tony

Chairman

Hong Kong, 2 July 2009
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yip's
Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 160,
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2009,
and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and

other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility forthe consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting

estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
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Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial

statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors of the Company, as well as evaluating

the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion

B EETHRE Independent Auditor’s Report

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true

and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March

2009 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then

ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
2 July 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement
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Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Change in fair value of derivative

financial instruments

Profit from operations

Interest expense

Profit before taxation

Taxation
Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company

Minority interests

Earnings per share

— Basic (HK cents)

— Diluted (HK cents)

—EBEBNEF —EENF

2009 2008

Bt & TET T
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
5 5,089,931 4,648,386
(4,146,092) (3,788,194)

943,839 860,192

78,125 97,250
(206,187) (129,196)
(458,342) (401,299)
18,195 (13,944)

6 375,630 413,003
8 (29,443) (30,215)
346,187 382,788
9 (82,145) (63,354)
264,042 319,434

224,228 275,183

39,814 44,251

264,042 319,434

"

41.9 56.7

41.6 55.9
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
RZEZENAFE=H=+—H At 31 March 2009
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RITEX
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Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Available-for-sale investment
Deposit paid for acquisition
of a subsidiary
Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment
Other non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade debtors
Other debtors and prepayments
Prepaid lease payments
Derivative financial instruments
Pledged bank deposits
Short-term bank deposits
— with original maturity
within three months
— with original maturity
more than three months

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Creditors and accrued charges
Taxation payable
Dividend payable to a
minority shareholder
of a subsidiary
Derivative financial instruments
Bank borrowings — amount due
within one year

Bank overdrafts

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report
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NOTES

12
13
14
15
16

19
20

13
21

22

22

23

21

24

—EBThEFE —ZENE
2009 2008
THT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
775,543 674,165
111,703 108,611
71,462 71,462
25,258 14,419
12,360 12,209

- 9,989

13,613 6,696
4,600 4,600
1,014,539 902,151
386,859 486,995
832,991 961,554
111,932 117,405
2,608 2,950
4,868 -

- 12,764
290,313 95,819
156,456 263,483
439,215 359,956
2,225,242 2,300,926
606,090 614,757
75,360 56,958
8,427 -

- 13,940
449,322 738,282
142 517
1,139,341 1,424,454
1,085,901 876,472
2,100,440 1,778,623
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Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings — amount
due after one year
Deferred taxation liabilities
Consideration payable for

acquisition of subsidiaries

Capital and reserves
Share capital

Reserves

Equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Minority interests

G
NOTES

24
25

26

—EBThEFE —ZENE
2009 2008
FHT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
67,389 136,917
7,175 7,337

- 5,404

74,564 149,658
2,025,876 1,628,965
53,576 48,741
1,776,820 1,400,036
1,830,396 1,448,777
195,480 180,188
2,025,876 1,628,965

2 July 2009 and are signed on its behalf by:

) DIRECTOR
ERIB Ip Chi Shing, Tony

The consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 160 were

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

DIRECTOR

Ip Fung Kuen
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Consolidated Statement Of Changes In Equity

BE_ZTTAF=A=+—HALFE For the year ended 31 March 2009

BERFLTRRCER
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ke  TARE j-L3e)
(1] il i YBBR
ks  BRHER Share Non-  EREE  AERR Capital ~ BiHRH g
Share Share option distributable  Translation legal ~redemption  Retained &t Minority it
capitl  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total  interests Total
TR TR T TiEn TER TR ThR Thn Thn ThR ThR
HK$000 HK§000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
RZESLEMA-R At 1 April 2007 48,164 243,661 607 3915 89,319 11 5038 711983 1,103,808 129879 1233687
AEEBUMNELE  Buchange differences arising on
LEREREL ranslation of foreign operations
LEREE recognised directly in equity - - - - 157570 - - B YA 1] 16,753 174333
REEHT Prfitfor he yeer - . . . - . SomIs TSIB M5 319434
REEEINALE Total recognised income
for the year - - - - 157,570 - - 275,183 132,153 61,004 493757
Nt Sub-total 48,164 243,661 607 3915 246,889 112 5038 987,166 1,536,561 190883 1,727,444
REREENED Shares issued at premium
Bk EE upon exercise of share options 577 16,086 (1,298) - - - - - 15,365 - 15,365
RYTREMELZER  Expenses incurred in connection
with issug of shares - (24) - - - - - - (24) - (24)
BARABEEN Recognition of equity-settled
BEST share-based payments - - 3,881 - - - - - 3881 - 3,881
DEERERER Share options cancelled and
ERBEF transfer 1o retained profits - - ) - - - - bl - - -
&F Transfer - - - 63,800 - 5,744 - (69,544) - - -
BfRE Dividends paid - - - - - - - (107,006)  (107,006) - (107,008)
ERHEALE Dividends paid to minoriy
RRRE shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (10695)  (10,6%)
RZBENEZA=T-B At31 March 2008 and
Rk-%EN\EMA-R 1 April 2008 48741 259,723 3,163 67,715 246,889 6,865 5038 810643 1448717 180,188 1,628,965
FEEAMIBAE  Exchange differences arising on
LUHREREL translaton of foreign operations
LERER recognised directly in equity - - - - 2,138 - - - 2,138 223 24370
HEHELR Reserve realised on
frERZGE deregistration of subsiciaries - - - - (6,153) - - - (6,153) - (6,153)
REEHR Profit for the year - - - - - - - mns 418 30814 264002
REEBINAAE Total recognised income
for the year - - - - 15,985 - - 24228 240213 42,046 282,259
Nt Sub-total 48,74 259,723 3,163 67715 262,874 6,865 5038 1034871 1,688,990 mne 191124
RRIRERMEL Shares issued at premium
ZiE by placement S0 20000 - - - - - S s B T
REREENED Shares issued at premium upon
BiRh2EE evercise of share options 16 4495 (391) - - - - - 4266 - 4266
RYTREMELZER  Expenses incurred in connection
with issug of shares - (6,815) - - - - - - (6,815) - (6,815)
BANRAAER Recognition of equity-settled
PANE S0 share-based payments - - 1,064 - - - - - 1,064 - 1,064
DEERERER Share options cancelled and
ERBE transfer 1o retained profits - - ) - - - - 4 - - -
@ESMZM’ Shares repurchased at premium (321) - - - - - 37 (8,167) (8,167) - (8,167)
Transfer - - - - - 8,543 - (8,543) - - -
Tﬂﬁg Dividends paid - - - - - - - (123942)  (13942) - (123.942)
ERHELTLY Dividends paid to minoriy
RERE shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (26754)  (26754)
ZEENESAST-B A3 March 2009 53,576 527403 3,79 67,715 262,874 15,408 5,365 894260 1,830,396 195480 2,025,876

T DR R A AR 40 R P B KB VB B 2 B A
RERNARELABRERUTREZES !
DEHENEIFEBRR(NVERNEEEE -

REBRATOIRZEERERTBUINNE
DNERBEAEBEMBE ZEEERBAZE
A e

The non-distributable reserve represents capitalisation of retained
profits of certain subsidiaries of Mainland China for capital re-
investment in these subsidiaries and funds shall be used to (i) make
up prior year losses or (ii) expand production operations.

The legal reserve is non-distributable and represents the transfer
of profits of a subsidiary outside Hong Kong pursuant to the legal
requirements in the relevant place of registration.
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HOIRERSEEXR
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

BE-ZETAFE=A=1+—HILEFE For The Year Ended 31 March 2009

ZZTAE —EENFE
2009 2008
THT FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
REEBR RSN Cash flows from operating activities
BRELATR R Profit before taxation 346,187 382,788
BUATHRZE - Adjustments for:
B EE#H Amortisation of intangible assets 4,562 2,010
FES LIRS Release of prepaid lease payments 3,023 2,420
WRIELURG HELEN Equity-settled share-based
RE ] payment expense 1,064 3,881
E - - BMERREZ Depreciation of property,
e plant and equipment 59,849 48,802
ME - BERREZ Impairment loss of property,
REEE plant and equipment 2,169 59
B A EREL > Reversal of impairment loss of
HEEE freehold land = (316)
TEEMIAEAAE Change in fair value of derivative
pd- 114 financial instruments (18,195) 13,944
FEEH Interest expense 29,443 30,215
HEWE - BERRE (Gain) loss on disposal of property,
ZCaF),/EE plant and equipment (4,488) 1,054
AHEERENRERA Dividend income from
available-for-sale investment (1,680) (8,168)
FEURA Interest income (20,452) (11,090)
HEEMB AR RER Realisation of translation reserve on
ZESf#E deregistration of subsidiaries (6,153) -
HERHEERE ZHEFR Gain on disposal of
available-for-sale investment - (11,591)
RIZERAEE Allowance for bad and doubtful debts 2,951 5,036
WEEERRER Amounts recovered from doubtful debts (66) (1,320)
FEU AR X
FEIRDRIRF A% Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
ZEREL on inter-company balances 289 (294)
KRETEEESBBATZLE  Operating cash flows before movements
EBBEER in working capital 398,503 457,430
BFERA (35m) Decrease (increase) in inventories 107,712 (29,254)
FEUR BRFRL A (32 00) Decrease (increase) in trade debtors 136,342 (132,406)
HitfER R R Decrease (increase) in other debtors
FENFURA ($210) and prepayments 9,665 (4,648)
BRI R (Decrease) increase in creditors
FEETE A ORA) & and accrued charges (27,178) 79,037
EEMEECRS Cash generated from operations 625,044 370,159
ZREBRER Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (2,879) (1,900)
TAIHPBEREZRZERBH  Enterprise Income Tax in Mainland China paid (61,229) (60,956)
KEEREE2FHESESWA  Net cash from operating activities 560,936 307,303
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Cash flows from investing activities

Decrease (increase) in short-term
bank deposits with maturity
more than three months

Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Decrease (increase) in pledged
bank deposits

Purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Purchase of intangible assets

Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment

Acquisition of subsidiaries,
net of cash and cash
equivalents acquired

Increase in prepaid lease payments

Proceeds from disposal of
available-for-sale investment

Dividend received from
available-for-sale investment

Deposit paid for acquisition
of a subsidiary

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Bank loans raised

Proceeds from issue of shares

Repayment of bank loans

Dividends paid

Interest paid

Dividends paid to minority
shareholders of subsidiaries

Payment on repurchase of shares

Share issue expenses

Net settlement of derivative
financial instruments

Net cash (used in) from

financing activities

Net increase in cash and

cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange

rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents

at end of the year

Analysis of balances of cash

and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash

HEBERER Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Short-term bank deposits with original

maturity within three months
Bank overdrafts

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

ZEEBAE —EENE
2009 2008

FEE T#ET FiBxT
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
107,999 (263,483)
20,452 11,090
16,987 2,335
12,764 (12,764)
(139,573) (81,508)
(14,400) (867)
(13,613) (6,696)

34 (5.845) (79,110)
= (6,489)

= 18,409

= 8,168

= (9,989)

(15,229) (420,904)
679,011 715,507
279,266 15,365
(1,050,388) (389,248)
(123,942) (107,006)
(29,443) (30,215)
(18,327) (10,695)
(8,167) -
(6,815) (24)
(613) -
(279,418) 193,684
266,289 80,083
455,258 328,465
7,839 46,710
729,386 455,258
439,215 359,956
290,313 95,819
(142) (517)
729,386 455,258
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ZZAFE=H=+—A For the year ended 31 March 2009

General

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands with its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the corporate information to the

annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars while the functional currency of the Company is
Renminbi (“RMB"). The reason for selecting Hong Kong dollars
as its presentation currency is because the Company is a public
company with the shares listed on the Stock Exchange, where

most of its investors are located in Hong Kong.
The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal

subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture of and trading in

solvents, coatings and lubricants.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments of Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS"s)
and interpretations (“INT"s) (hereinafter collectively referred
to as “new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") which are or have

become effective.

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Reclassification of financial assets

(Amendments)
HK(IFRIC)* — INT 12 Service concession arrangements
HK(IFRIC) — INT 14 HKAS 19 — The limit on a defined
benefit asset, minimum funding
requirements and their interaction
* IFRIC represents the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect
on how the results and financial position for the current or
prior accounting periods have been prepared and presented.

Accordingly, no prior period adjustment has been required.
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Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

standards, amendments or interpretations that have been issued

but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 & 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27

(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

HKFRS 8

HK(IFRIC) - INT 9 & HKAS 39

(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) - INT 13

HK(IFRIC) - INT 15

HK(IFRIC) - INT 16

HK(IFRIC) - INT 17

HK(IFRIC) - INT 18

ERILIEEERRA

Improvements to HKFRSs

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 ?

Presentation of financial statements 3

Borrowing costs *

Consolidated and separate financial
statements *

Puttable financial instruments and obligations
arising on liquidation *

Eligible hedged items *

Cost of an investment in a subsidiary,

jointly controlled entity or associate >
Vlesting conditions and cancellations 3
Business combinations
Improving disclosures about financial
instruments 3
Operating segments *
Embedded derivatives ®
Customer loyalty programmes ©
Agreements for the construction of real estate *
Hedges of a net investment
in a foreign operation ’

Distributions of non-cash assets to owners *

Transfers of assets from customers ¢
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
except the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for annual periods

beginning on or after 1 July 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009,

1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as appropriate

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

E Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October
2008

8 Effective for transfers on or after 1 July 2009

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the Group’s
accounting for business combination for which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 April 2010. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect
the accounting treatment for changes in the Group’s ownership
interest in a subsidiary. The directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of the other new and revised standards,
amendments or interpretations will have no material impact on

the results and the financial position of the Group.
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Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments,
which are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting

policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the

Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from

its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of

disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies

into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are

eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein.
Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of
those interests at the date of the original business combination
and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of
the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of
the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated
against the interests of the Group except to the extent that
the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an

additional investment to cover the losses.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets
given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree,
plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination.
The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under HKFRS 3
“Business combinations” are recognised at their fair values at

the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group's interest
in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business
combination, the excess is recognised immediately in profit

or loss.
The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially

measured at the minority's proportion of the net fair value of

the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on acquisition prior to 1 January 2005

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of net assets and operations
of another entity for which the agreement date is before 1
January 2005 represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the relevant subsidiary at the date of
acquisition.

For previously capitalised goodwill arising on acquisition of
net assets and operations of another entity, the Group has
discontinued amortisation from 1 April 2005 onwards, and
such goodwill is tested for impairment annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the cash generating unit to which
the goodwill relates may be impaired.

Goodwill arising on acquisition on or after 1 January 2005

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business for which
the agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005 represents
the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's interest
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the relevant business, at the date of
acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
presented separately in the consolidated balance sheet.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition on or after 1 January 2005
(Continued)

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the

determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of additional interests in a
subsidiary

Goodwill arising on acquisition of additional interests in a
subsidiary represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of the
additional interests over the book value of the net assets of the

subsidiary attributable to the additional interests acquired.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress and
freehold land) are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress and freehold land, over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual value,

using the straight line method.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their

intended use.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in the consolidated income

statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Leasehold land and buildings under development for
future owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes,
the leasehold land component is classified as a prepaid lease
payment and amortised over a straight line basis over the
lease term. During the construction period, the amortisation
charge provided for the leasehold land is included as part
of costs of buildings under construction. Buildings under
construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment
losses. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition
necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner

intended by management).

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight line basis

over their estimated useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in the consolidated income statement when the

asset is derecognised.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An

impairment loss is recognised as expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
balance sheet when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit

or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are mainly classified into one of
three categories, including financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL"), loans and receivables and available-
for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are mainly those classified

as derivative financial instruments.
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling

in the near future; or

. itis a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has a recent actual

pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the

period in which they arise.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade debtors,
other debtors, pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposits,
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified impairment

losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at FVTPL,
loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments. The
Group classified equity investment held for an identified long

term strategic purpose as available-for-sale investment.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured, they are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at each balance sheet date subsequent to

initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial
assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash

flows of the financial assets have been affected.
For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or

prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its

cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
For other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment

could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty;

. default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

or

. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables
that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit
period granted, observable changes in national or local economic

conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss
is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original

effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed

in subsequent periods.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade or other receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost

would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified

into financial liabilities at FVTPL and other financial liabilities.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVTPL of the Group mainly represent

financial liabilities held for trading.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been incurred principally for the purpose of

repurchasing in the near future;

. itis a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has a recent actual

pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the

period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including creditors, consideration
payable, bank overdrafts and bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest

method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Repurchase of the
Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted
directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s

own equity instruments.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet date.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss

immediately.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or
loss. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and recognise a collateralised

borrowing for proceeds received.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and

payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an

expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or
loss on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense

over the lease term on a straight line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building
are considered separately for the purpose of lease classification,
unless the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, in which case, the entire
contract is generally treated as a finance lease and accounted for
as property, plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation
of the lease payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests

in land are accounted for as operating leases.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of

business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered and

title has been passed.

Service income is recognised when services are rendered.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income from financial assets is accrued on a time basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the

financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been

established.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each
balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical

cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the re-translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the re-translation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss
for the period except for differences arising on the re-translation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses
are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange

differences are also recognised directly in equity.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised as a separate component of equity (the
translation reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation

is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
and liabilities acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 April 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange

differences arising are recognised in the translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on identifiable assets
and liabilities acquired on acquisition of foreign operations prior
to 1 April 2005 are treated as non-monetary foreign currency
items of the acquirer and reported using the historical exchange

rate prevailing at the date of the acquisition.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing

costs eligible for capitalisation.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Borrowing costs (Continued)
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred taxation.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
income statement because it excludes items of income and
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes income statement items that are never taxable
and deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation is recognised on differences between the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for
using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred taxation
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred taxation assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will

not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available

to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred taxation is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised. Deferred taxation is charged or credited to the
consolidated income statement, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred

taxation is also dealt with in equity.

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
charged as expenses when employees have rendered service

entitling them to the contributions.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Share options granted and vested before 1 April 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded in
the consolidated balance sheet until such time as the options
are exercised, and no charge is recognised in the consolidated
income statement in respect of the value of options granted in
that year. Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting
shares issued are recorded by the Company as additional share
capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the
exercise price per share over the nominal value of the shares
is recorded by the Company as share premium. Options which
lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted

from the register of outstanding options.
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HABEHEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees (Continued)

Share options granted and vested on or after 1 April 2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the
share options granted vest immediately, with a corresponding

increase in the share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in the share option

reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make various estimates based on past experience,
expectations of the future and other information. The key
assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,

are discussed below.
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwiill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. As at 31 March
20009, the carrying amount of goodwill was HK$71,462,000
(2008: HK$71,462,000). Details of the recoverable amount

calculation are disclosed in note 14.

Turnover and Business and Geographical
Segments

Turnover
Turnover represents the net amount received and receivable for

goods sold to customers during the year.

Business segments

For management purposes, the Group’s operations are currently
classified under three business divisions, namely solvents,
coatings and lubricants. These division are the basis on which

the Group reports its primary segment information.
Principal activities are as follows:

Solvents — manufacture of and trading in solvents and

related products

Coatings - manufacture of and trading in coatings and

related products

Lubricants — manufacture of and trading in lubricants

products
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Year ended 31 March 2009

Segment revenue
External sales
Inter-segment sales

Total

Results
Segment result

Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses

Profit from operations
Interest expense

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year

Year ended 31 March 2008

Segment revenue
External sales
Inter-segment sales

Total

Results
Segment result

Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses

Profit from operations
Interest expense

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year

BT RALTHGRRAA

HABEHEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

5. Turnover andBusinessand Geographical

Seg ments (Continued)

Business segments (Continued)
(@  Ananalysis of the Group's turnover and results by business

segments is as follows:

aE # iR it ZHEH &8
Solvents Coatings Lubricants Others  Elimination Consolidated
TER TAR TET TET TER TER
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2,898,851 1,852,881 257,446 80,753 - 5,089,931
71,112 - - - (77,7112) -
2,976,563 1,852,881 257,446 80,753 (77,112) 5,089,931
212,682 128,112 (7,284) 6,101 (371) 339,240
53,650

(17,260)

375,630

(29,443)

346,187

(82,145)

264,042

2,681,926 1,616,463 247,123 102,874 - 4,648,386
63,679 49,873 1,533 742 (115,827) -
2,745,605 1,666,336 248,656 103,616 (115,827) 4,648,386
250,185 124,046 9,493 9,461 (473) 392,712
45,193

(24,902)

413,003

(30,215)

382,788

(63,354)

319,434

Inter-segment sales are charged at the similar terms as

outsiders.
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Year ended 31 March 2009

Capital additions
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Release of prepaid lease payments
Impairment loss of property,
plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Loss (gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Year ended 31 March 2008

Capital additions
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Release of prepaid lease payments
(Reversal of impairment loss)
impairment loss of property,
plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

5. Turnover andBusinessand Geographical

Seg ments (Continued)

Business segments (Continued)

(b)  Other information
%8

| #H HiEh Hft  Corporate #e
Solvents Coatings  Lubricants Others level Consolidated
TAR TAR TER TAR TAR TAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
37,645 133,500 2,720 2,656 6,647 183,168
22,826 30,034 4,518 123 2,348 59,849
1,140 1,548 - - 335 3,023
466 1,673 30 - = 2,169
2,114 2,448 - - - 4,562
751 1,361 46 = (6,652) (4,488)
148,971 60,650 3,158 1,452 648 214,879
15,539 27,404 4,278 57 1,524 48,802
591 1,49 - - 335 2,420
- (316) 59 - - (257)
934 1,076 - - - 2,010
84 832 9 - 39 1,054
ERILIEEERLAA ZFENZ_ZTNFEER
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5. BEBRNEKRMESE 5. TurnoverandBusinessand Geographical

(#&) Segments (Continued)
XEo®B(E) Business segments (Continued)
(o) AEBEEEGEREER BN () An analysis of the Group’s balance sheet by business
T segments is as follows:
A 28 iR Hth o]
Solvents Coatings  Lubricants Others Consolidated
FTHEx AT FTHEx FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RISSNE At 31 March 2009
=R=+-H
BB Assets
PEEE Segment assets 973,934 1,166,115 151,510 14,993 2,306,552
KAOMEBEE  Unallocated
corporate assets 933,229
REBEE Consolidated total assets 3,239,781
8fE Liabilities
PEERB Segment liabilities 262,498 253,432 45,382 43,983 605,295
FERBLR Taxation payable 75,360
EEFIEEE Deferred taxation liabilities 7,175
KABMEBEERE  Unallocated
corporate liabilities 526,075
mEReR Consolidated total liabilities 1,213,905
RZSTNE At 31 March 2008
=ZR=t+-8H
g Assets
PEEE Segment assets 1,083,499 1,134,634 170,300 12,660 2,401,093
KRAOEEBEE  Unallocated corporate assets 801,984
REHEE Consolidated total assets 3,203,077
8& Liabilities
PEEE Segment liabilities 317,666 223,717 50,261 5,285 596,929
FEEBR Taxation payable 56,958
EERIEEE Deferred taxation liabilities 7,337
RAPEEBERE  Unallocated corporate liabilities 912,888
SAEBAaR Consolidated total liabilities 1,574,112
BWES® Geographical segments
HRAEERBRAIONZEXBEREE R As over 90% of the Group’s turnover and trading results are
MIGREFEKRBE > MAKEKIHE derived from Mainland China and the assets are substantially
ERURPBEKRE MEEGELEESR located in Mainland China, an analysis of the consolidated
REERANCEREENFIEHRERE turnover and trading results by geographical market based on
Ry & D 4T o location of manufacture of products and assets by geographical

location of assets is not presented.
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6. Profit from Operations

Profit from operations has been

arrived at after charging:

Amortisation of intangible assets
Auditors’ remuneration
— current year
— underprovision in prior year
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Impairment loss of property,
plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Operating lease payments in respect
of rented premises
Release of prepaid lease payments
Staff costs, including directors’

remuneration (Note 7)

and after crediting:

Interest income
Dividend income from available-for-sale investment
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investment
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Incentives received in respect of capitalisation of
retained profits of subsidiaries
Net exchange gain
Net processing fee income
Reversal of impairment loss of

freehold land (Note 12)

ZEThEFE —EEBNE
2009 2008
FHT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
4,562 2,010
4,228 3,730
160 676
59,849 48,802
2,169 59

- 1,054

12,715 10,486
3,023 2,420
389,227 321,110
20,452 11,090
1,680 8,168

- 11,591

4,488 -
1,932 11,393
5,910 13,755
11,664 10,109
— 316
ERULIEEERAR —FENEZ_FTTALEEER



EEHEREE#MS

HABEHEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Directors’ Remuneration and Employees’

Emoluments
ENREMFI3BR(ZEENF 1 11R) The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 13 (2008: 11)
BEEZHMEeWT directors were as follows:
60 ERW ETH OTER MBR ®EW RET BB REEN AR EMER ¥R %3 4B
Ip Yip  Ting Young  Wong Ng i Tong Wong Au-Yeung li Ku
Chi Shing, Fung Kuen sz Hin, Hon Yam Man Kim, Kam Yim, Siu Ping, Wai Man, Wi Tung, Kong Chi Tsan Pong, Chak Man, Yuen Fun,
Tony Stephen Robert  Kenny  George  Peter  Ronald Davie  Chuck  Andy  Total
FER TERL TR TRT TR TET TER TR TEn TR TER TER  TER
HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
ZEENE 2009
E2he Fees 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 30 500 200 200 150 4510
BhHe Other emoluments
EEREVET Salaries and other benefits 333 1464 2353 1440 1558 156 1367 1495 - - - - - WSS
FeARENAR A Discretionary bonus - - - m -0 W 3 - - - - - M
LUBES Share-based payments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - - - - - 160
ERERH Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 178 11 156 126 14 144 126 5 - - - - - 1066
el Total emoluments 3934 2001 299 2465 21 36 224 A3 30 500 200 200 150 261
Efe ERR ETH TEM BRR ELE 24T RER EET UREN PR &%
Ip Ip Yp  Tng Young  Wong Ng  Tong  Wong Au-Yeung li
Chi Shing, Fung Kuen Tz Hin, Hon Yam  Man Kim, Kam Yim, ~Siu Ping, Wui Tung, Kong Chi Tsan Pong, Chak Man,
Tony Stephen Robert ~ Kenny  George  Ronald Davie  Chuck  Total
Thn TEn FEr TEr THR TER TEn TEr TEr TR TR TR
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRE 2008
g2ht Fees 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 30 500 200 200 4020
Hhie Other emoluments
ESRAVET Salaries and other benefits 3198 1210 223 1273 0431 143 1035 - - - - 103
FesltREAAR R Discretionary bonus 419 46 49 465 4 %8 419 - - - -3
RERT Share-based payments 9 9 9 9 ] 9 9 - - - -
EAEREL Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 166 106 144 114 104 132 114 - - - - 880
Hesg Total emoluments 4216 1855 3299 2345 2439 3016 2061 320 500 200 200 20711
B 5 - Notes
(a) EBZzFHeRLMHEMEBEANEELEH (@)  The directors’ salaries and other benefits above included operating
E#H£1,560,0008 T(ZBZ )N\ &: leases rentals of HK$1,560,000 (2008: HK$1,560,000).
1,560,000587T) ©
(b) FRHMERENIWMzREANSEFE (b)  The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the
HREzREEE MARBERBENT S operating results, individual performance and comparable market
ZEFTBBMAE © statistics during the year.
(0 R-ZEZENEFE+A=+—-HB>Z&27H (¢ On 31 October 2008, the Company granted an aggregate of

& 1 & #£800,0008( =ZF & N\ F:
1,400,000 ) BREF AR 2E TE
E-HREER-ZZHEEMA—AA
RECERECR -_ZSZTEFMNA—A
FRE RERBEESHBRELENSE
2R LA XA WFRE " 2 AR E R
X HAREEN TIERMETE -

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

800,000 (2008: 1,400,000) share options to certain directors of
the Company. In relation to share options granted before 1 April
2005, they were vested before 1 April 2005 and therefore has had
no financial impact to the Group in accordance with the relevant
transitional provisions of HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”.
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7. EEMEREEME @ 7. Directors’Remuneration and Employees’
Emoluments (continued)
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Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, four (2008: five) were directors of the Company whose

emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments of the

remaining one individual for the year ended 31 March 2009

were as follows:

Salaries and other benefits

Retirement benefit scheme contribution

8. Interest Expense

Interest on bank borrowings wholly repayable

within five years

TiERT

HK$°000

4,480

84

4,564

—EETAF —2ENE
2009 2008
FET TiERT
HK$°000 HK$°000
29,443 30,215

ERILIEEERRA

—ERN\E-SBAERER



BiIE

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

9. Taxation

ZBEATF —ZEEINF
2009 2008
THT FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RITHIE - BB Current tax — Hong Kong
KEE Current year 941 3,461
AFEZRBE Overprovision in previous years (7) (24)
934 3,437
RITHIE — PR KE Current tax — Mainland China
BEE Current year 78,830 63,463
EED(Z)REBE Under(over)provision in previous years 2,746 (3,249)
81,576 60,214
82,510 63,651
IEFERITE (F£25) Deferred taxation (Note 25)
B8 Hong Kong
—-KEE — current year (255) (297)
PR oTE — attributable to change in tax rate (110) -
(365) (297)
82,145 63,354
RZZFENFRAZ+TXRB BBILE On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
SEB_ZTENFRAGHESE i the Revenue Bill 2008 which reduced corporate profits tax rate
E1l ’%ﬁ?ﬂ‘zﬁaﬂ 5%Hl M £16.5% - from 17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year of assessment
H-ZZN /—ZENERVEELE 2008/2009. Therefore, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
Mo At BERFNESHEBRANFEEMLE 16.5% (2008: 17.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for
RBEF16.5% (ZFEBNF 1 17.5%) the year.
sTE o

GEER S SEE ASE S E R
ZHENE -

BRETEREEBEZRZRAAN  RXAFH
ETHEAENBLARAEENEMFR
BESENFEERRPEAKRERE
FigH MERLEREKREHEQR
BEERUER=FRPERELERE
BIESO%ER - PEIAEREFEHRE
REFALEBBEERELEE -
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Enterprise income tax in Mainland China has been provided at
the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland
China, certain of the Company’s Mainland China subsidiaries are
entitled to exemption from enterprise income tax of Mainland
China for the first two years commencing from their first profit-
making year of operation and thereafter, these subsidiaries in
Mainland China will be entitled to a 50% relief from enterprise
income tax of Mainland China for the following three years.
Enterprise income tax of Mainland China has been provided for

after taking these tax incentives into account.
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Taxation (Continued)

On 16 March 2007, the Law of Mainland China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “New Law"”) was enacted by the President’s
Order No. 63. On 6 December 2007, the State Council of
Mainland China issued Implementation Regulations of the New
Law (the “Implementation Regulations”). The New Law and
Implementation Regulations will change the tax rates from
15% to 25% progressively over 5 years for certain subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 and 27% and 33% to 25% for certain

subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 respectively.

Certain of the Group’s subsidiaries that are currently entitled
to exemption and reduction from enterprise income tax rate of
Mainland China would continue to enjoy such tax benefits until
the exemption and reduction period expire, but not beyond

2012.
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Profit before taxation

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Taxation (Continued)

A statement of reconciliation of taxation is as follows:

Tax charge at the domestic income

tax rate of 25% (2008: 27 %)

Under(over)provision in previous years

Tax effect of expenses not deductible

for tax purposes

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously

not recognised

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

in other jurisdictions

Effect of income tax on concessionary rates

for certain subsidiaries

Tax effect on opening deferred tax liabilities

resulting from changes in applicable tax rate

Others

Taxation for the year

AU EREDEAREBRIHER

FTE AR B 2 B o

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

—E2ThE —EEBN\E
2009 2008
TET FBT
HK$’000 HK$'000
346,187 382,788
86,547 103,353
2,739 (3,273)
12,593 10,295
(15,248) (16,971)
19,408 12,391
(1,188) (4,172)
(6,770) (11,324)
(18,909) (29,396)
(110) -
3,083 2,451
82,145 63,354

The domestic income tax rate is a tax rate in the jurisdiction

where the operation of the Group is substantially based.

103



FREBTEIMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

10. K2

11

104

REAERRREZRE

“RENFHHRE

BRe.0BI (ZEBNF:
—EENFHHKRE

BRR10.05840)
“RENFHRRE:

BR15.08L (Z2BNEF
“ERLFHRRE

BR12.05840)

Dividend recognised as distribution during the year:

10. Dividends

2009 interim dividend of HK8.0 cents

(2008: 2008 interim dividend of HK10.0 cents)

per share

2008 final dividend of HK15.0 cents

(2008: 2007 final dividend of HK12.0 cents)

per share

EESEBRERADBREESR 7.0
(Z2ZNF : 8R15.081) » LFR

RERRBAFAE LR
RRMBRERIAREE -

BREAER

BB REARE

RABRREBREAGREARBER

BATRIETIENTE
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Bz mEFIRE
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WExE  BRE
AESREER
Bz mEFIRE

11.

—2F0F —ERENEF
2009 2008
FET TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
43,115 48,663
80,827 58,343
123,942 107,006

A final dividend of HK17.0 cents (2008: HK15.0 cents) per share

has been proposed by the directors and are subject to approval

by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting

and have not been included as liabilities in these consolidated

financial statements.

Earnings Per Share

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

attributable to the equity holders of the Company is based on

the following data:

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company and earnings for the purposes of
calculating basic and diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of shares for the purpose
of calculating basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential shares:
Share options

Weighted average number of shares for the purpose
of calculating diluted earnings per share

k- 15 83 —EEN\E
2009 2008
TET FERT
HK$'000 HK$'000
224,228 275,183
Bin&E
Number of shares
TH T
‘000 ‘000
535,628 485,549
3,610 6,787
539,238 492,336
ERILIEEERAR —ETENE_TTALEEER



12.9% - BERRE

R (E
R-2ELENA-A
HEZFER
B
WEHEAE
e
RZZBNF=A=1-H
NELEZE
B
W -EHELT
e

AZESNEZAZT-H

HERAEER

R-2ELFNA-A

HEEFER

it

(E) FPHfEER

I R i

RZSENEZR=t-R
NELEZE
EREE

ENHEER
IH R 8
AZESAFZAZT-B

BESE
RZESAEZA=+-A

AZBB\EZR=1-H

12. Property,

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Plant and Equipment

B %ER
NG
FHERTR KA Furniture,
Construction  EELH fixtures RE HRERES
in Freehold BT and office Motor  Plant and aif
progress land  Buildings  equipment vehicles  machinery Total
TR TER TER THER TER TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT COST
At 1 April 2007 42,899 3,960 328,017 82,263 48,775 292,417 798,331
Currency realignment 4,532 81 33,875 4,998 4,075 30,557 78,118
Reclassification (48,979) - 43,671 1,537 - 3,771 -
Additions 49,275 - 8,527 3,207 9,820 28,453 99,282
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - 7270 223 357 52,219 60,069
Disposals - - (458) (5,817) (9,497) (3,571) (19,343)
At 31 March 2008 47,727 4,041 420,902 86,411 53,530 403,846 1,016,457
Currency realignment 584 (481) 5374 707 621 4,935 11,740
Reclassification (13,410) - 6,676 2,391 - 4,343 -
Additions 85,127 - 573 12,029 8,113 40,427 146,269
Acquisition of a subsidiary - - 11,915 191 365 9217 21,688
Disposals - - (15,174) (2,309) (9,788) (4.891) (32,162)
At 31 March 2009 120,028 3,560 430,266 99,420 52,841 457,877 1,163,992
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2007 - 1338 88,436 53,401 28,397 110,391 281,963
Currency realignment - 46 9,885 3,693 2,34 11,773 27,738
Depreciation provided for the year - - 14,655 7,485 5377 21,285 48802
(Reversal of impairment loss)
impairment loss for the year - (316) - 38 21 - (257)
Eliminated on disposals - - (193) (5,383) (7,457) (2,921) (15,954)
At 31 March 2008 - 1,068 112,783 59,234 28,679 140,528 342,09
Currency realignment - (127) 1,487 387 291 1,764 3,802
Depreciation provided
for the year - - 16,749 8,814 5,995 28,291 59,849
Impairment loss for the year - - - 226 10 1,933 2,169
Eliminated on disposals - - (6,334) (2,065) (7,476) (3,788) (19,663)
At 31 March 2009 - 941 124,685 66,596 27,499 168,728 388,449
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2009 120,028 2,619 305,581 32,824 25,342 289,149 775,543
At 31 March 2008 47,727 2,973 308,119 2,171 24,851 263,318 674,165
105
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12.
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HRERBRUT FRIFE:

KAE-EL i3

BF 2.5%HUBL 2
18 84 1R, LA
BEE

B HER 4.5%Z50%

WOER
"E 9%Z30%
BB RS 45%F45%

FR AEEREYE BERRBE
TTRT YEHEBI»ZEEERER
BEREMEAMEBERE- Bt &K
B HERPAERE AERBER
HeEE o B ER R {EEH226,0008 T
(ZZ %\ :38,000/% 7t ) » 10,000
BL(=ZZZ )\ F:21,0008 1)K
1,933,000 T (ZBBNF 1 &)

RZBENE=ZA=+—-BILEE &K
EEFGEKALET I ZREME > WH
ER B E1E316,0008 T(Z TN F :
&) ERGERERNER -

12. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are

depreciated on a straight line basis at the following rates per

annum:
Freehold land Nil
Buildings Over the shorter of the

remaining term

of the lease or 2.5%
Furniture, fixtures and 4.5% to 50%
office equipment
9% to 30%

4.5% to 45%

Motor vehicles

Plant and machinery

During the year, the Group conducted a review on the property,
plant and equipment and determined that a number of those
assets were impaired, due to the physical damage and technical
obsolescence. Accordingly, impairment losses of HK$226,000
(2008: HK$38,000), HK$10,000 (2008: HK$21,000) and
HK$1,933,000 (2008: nil) have been recognised in respect of
furniture, fixtures and office equipment, motor vehicles and

plant and machinery respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group reviewed the
carrying value of the freehold land and a reversal of impairment
loss of HK$316,000 (2009: nil) was credited to the consolidated

income statement.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

12. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

—ZTAF —EBEN\F
2009 2008
THT FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
EBEoWERERBIE © The Group's property interests comprise:
EBLUIMEERFE 2K X Freehold land held outside Hong Kong 2,619 2,973
EREL
AL ZERLF ¢ Buildings located on land:
EEBEEZ Held in Hong Kong under
— FHEIAE — medium-term leases 10,922 11,442
ERBUIIMEE Held outside Hong Kong under:
BEZ:
- RHIEE - Long leases 383 464
— FHEIEE — Medium-term leases 284,814 277,938
— SSHEE — Short-term leases 9,462 18,275
308,200 311,092
13. 78L& 13. Prepaid Lease Payments
ZZBhEF —EENF
2009 2008
THT FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
AEEFEMS L The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise:
HE&BHE
EBBAEZHEELH ¢ Leasehold land in Hong Kong under:
- FHEIFEE - Medium-term leases 11,878 12,188
BEEBUIMbEIFEZ ¢ Leasehold land outside Hong Kong under:
- REHEE - Long leases 1,293 1,318
- FHEIFEE - Medium-term leases 101,140 96,740
— SHIEE — Short-term leases = 1,315
114,311 111,561
DHTERE A Analysed for reporting purposes as:
RENERD Current asset 2,608 2,950
IERENERD Non-current asset 111,703 108,611
114,311 111,561
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14. 158 14. Goodwill
S
Total
FHET
HK$'000
BRAR AT COST
R-ZEE+LENA—H At 1 April 2007 30,491
AW BB AR MmEE Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 40,971
RZZBZENF=ZA=+—0 - ZZZN\F At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008
mE—BR=ZEZENAFE=A=+-—H and 31 March 2009 71,462
REBEFWB2EEIRN KBRS K Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
PHEABRZEBLSHIPZEZREE at acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGU"s) that
AEBENBEeELEBEN | BEZREEAE are expected to benefit from that business combination. The
E2oFMT: carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:
—ZETNEF —EENF
2009 2008
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
HERRERE Sale and manufacture of solvents 59,479 59,479
SHERRERR Sale and manufacture of coatings 10,095 10,095
HERREEEH Sale and manufacture of lubricants 1,888 1,888
71,462 71,462
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14. BE w) 14. Goodwill (continued)

REBEEZE-ZZhFE=ZA=+—-HLHF
B AEECERERABEHEZR
CELABUYERE -

REELENcIWESENRAEAER
BEMEE AEERAEERRAzE
EBRRLBBEMAZFTRAR - BREERR
TAHHEEREER A 2SR MELT -
EEEUATRMRREBDSTEES 2K
BEERZRCELENTEERRZ
BARGENRAR - BREJERYE
RZBRAAMEL - HEBREER
Rz2BAREBEEIREABARD
BB EMEE -

AREFEZEN FEERBEEE
E#HEZEBRBREINMBEESLEZ
AREFESHR AFEAERBER=
13.7% (ZZEENEF 1 12.7%) > RR™
LREHEERENTIGERESEELSE
UBERBZTML ERNEAEEMITESZ
BRFEN SFBENF0%E20% (=
ZENF  T%REL2%) R E - BEHE
WEEZHE o

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the management of
the Group determines that there is no impairment of any of its

CGUs containing goodwill.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs
during the period. Management estimates discount rates using
pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The
growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts. Changes
in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and

expectations of future changes in the market.

For impairment assessment purpose, the Group performed
impairment review for goodwill based on cash flow forecasts
derived from the most recent financial budgets for the next five
years approved by management using a discount rate of 13.7%
(2008: 12.7%) which reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The
growth rates per annum range from 0% to 20% (2008: 7%
to 22%) in light of the Group’s industry growth forecasts. No

impairment loss was considered necessary.
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15. Intangible Assets

AT COST

At 1 April 2007

Additions

Acquired on acquisition
of subsidiaries

Currency realignment

At 31 March 2008

Acquired on acquisition

of a subsidiary (Note 34)

Additions (Note 35)

Currency realignment
At 31 March 2009

AMORTISATION

At 1 April 2007
Provided for the year
Currency realignment
At 31 March 2008
Provided for the year
Currency realignment

At 31 March 2009

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2009

At 31 March 2008

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

BERRRE

BT AS THEthE EFEE Trademarks
Technical Non-competition Customer and ait
knowhow covenants relationship  patent brands Total
FEx FEx Fax Sp- 1 FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
5,000 - - - 5,000
867 - - - 867
- 13,690 - - 13,690
68 855 - - 923
5,935 14,545 - - 20,480
- 811 - - 811
2,633 - 9,573 2,194 14,400
11 183 - - 194
8,579 15,539 9,573 2,194 35,885
4,000 - - - 4,000
1,080 930 - - 2,010
6 45 - - 51
5,086 975 - - 6,061
372 2,677 1,330 183 4,562
1 3 - - 4
5,459 3,655 1,330 183 10,627
3,120 11,884 8,243 2,011 25,258
849 13,570 - - 14,419
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15. 8 &EE @

15. Intangible Assets (continued)

EMz B EEREREAEY - 28
REEDRBESERT I 2B AE
REREE

BT 0 5-10%
TR F W= 3-10%F
EFBRF 6%

BERmE 105

BMAEBAROE=ZTUBEERSE S
BRHEERWEERMN BRI

THEEHRARNWE QTR REEK
BRAANHETRNFIZI0F2HESF
HAARBEBEE -

EFBRADEZEFPEBRARE SR
Btlim RBEFRHEMBEFER
ZERBHRREK

AEkmEEEBRBEERME3S)RE
B zREETE  ZERERTER
ESERTRAMEE -

16. At HHERE

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis over

the following periods:

Technical knowhow 5-10 years
Non-competition covenants 3-10 years
Customer relationship 6 years
Trademarks and patents brands 10 years

Technical knowhow represents technical knowledge and
techniques acquired from independent third parties to

manufacture certain insulating varnish and ink products.

Non-competition covenants represent the right to restrict the
vendors of acquirees, after acquisition of the entities, to carry
on the same business for specific periods ranging from 3 to

10 years.

Customer relationship represents the customers, which are
buying specialised types of paint and thinner used in audio
visual equipment, cosmetics, mobile phone and other electronic

products.

Trademarks and patent brands represent the brand names
acquired through the purchase of assets (see note 35) which

have high recognition and awareness in the market.

16. Available-for-sale Investment

—ZThE —EENEF
2009 2008
T FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEMRAFES Unlisted shares in Mainland China,
R EZERE at cost less impairment loss 12,360 12,209
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16.

17.

18.
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HRGHZERESEAAERAEE
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BER SR H A AE  MILBAAR
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RZZZENF=ZA=+—H0  FLFAEH
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16.

17.

18.

Available-for-sale Investment (continued)

The above investment represents investment in unlisted equity
shares and is measured at cost less impairment at each balance
sheet date because the range of reasonable fair value estimates
is so significant that the directors of the Company are of the

opinion that the fair value cannot be measured reliably.

For the year ended 31 March 2008, available-for-sale investment
with carrying value of HK$6,818,000 was disposed of at a
gain of HK$11,591,000 (2009: nil) recognised in consolidated

income statement for that year.

Deposit Paid for Acquisition of a
Subsidiary

At 31 March 2008, the amount represented a deposit paid
for the acquisition of the entire equity interest of Fusen Ink
Chemical Co., Limited (“Fusen”), a private limited company
established in Mainland China. Upon the completion of the
acquisition of Fusen on 17 June 2008, the relevant deposit
made was transferred to the purchase consideration paid for

the acquisition (Note 34).
Other Non-Current Assets

The amount represents the cost of club debentures held by the
Group and is measured at cost less accumulated impairment

losses, if any, at each balance sheet date.
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19. 78 19. Inventories

—EEBhE —EENE
2009 2008
T#&xT FERT
HK$"000 HK$'000
R Raw materials 197,845 233,533
EER Work in progress 31,327 41,630
BIRLMm Finished goods 157,687 211,832
386,859 486,995

20. FEURBR =X 20. Trade Debtors
—EEThE —EENF
2009 2008
F#ET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEURBRFR Trade debtors 864,248 993,811
B RIBIREE Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (31,257) (32,257)
832,991 961,554

REEARVRR ZREDTAT :

EE=EA 0 - 3 months
Mz 7 {E8 A 4 — 6 months
NMERAMUE Over 6 months

REBRERBRHEE P RABHIOKREIOR
ZEEH BRNEEHIRTAIRE
BRFZRPIBRERZEP -

An aged analysis of trade debtors at the balance sheet date

is as follows:

ZEThEFE —EENF
2009 2008
FHT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
660,617 783,227
161,807 164,338
10,567 13,989
832,991 961,554

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 to 90 days
to its trade customers. A longer credit period may be granted
to large or long-established customers with good payment

history.
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SRR EEREERATANREFEER
ERBEREEME - EFZRESEH
B o KHN73% (ZZBENF 1 73%)8&
BHSREZEREREREBMRA
ZEAFASHFNEZERERATS

TEBEVERERABESENEWRIER
#IRE E 5228,358,0008 T (ZEEN
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ZERHcERRRCHBYERILR
BRAKRAGRIBNZERR, Wi,
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REER  ERHEERABEZEWRER
ZEREBR DT :

ZZ=@A 0 - 3 months
mzREA 4 - 6 months
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EEERWRR ZITREMNE  BER
ARHEERERBAY  AEEES
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EERD MEFME  AKEXLEE
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20. Trade Debtors (continued)

Before accepting any new customers, the Group has an internal
credit control system to assess the potential customers’ credit
quality and the board of directors has delegated to management
the responsibility of determining credit limits and granting credit
approvals of its customers. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed periodically. Approximately 73% (2008: 73%) of the
trade debtors are neither past due nor impaired as they were
assessed to be of good credit rating under the credit control

system used by the Group.

Included in the Group’s trade debtor balances are past due
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of HK$228,358,000
(2008: HK$263,466,000). These past due debtors are all closely
monitored and by past experience, they will eventually settle
their debts, so the Group has not provided for impairment loss.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The following is an aged analysis of trade debtors, which are

past due but not impaired at the balance sheet date:

—EBThEFE —EENEF
2009 2008
FTEx FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
100,529 133,791
117,262 115,686
10,567 13,989
228,358 263,466

In determining the recoverability of the trade debtors, the Group
monitors any change in the credit quality of the trade debtors
since the credit was granted and up to the reporting date. The
directors of the Company considered that the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread

over a large number of counterparties and customers.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

20. Trade Debtors (continued)

RIFIRERE Allowance for doubtful debts:
ZZThE —EENE
2009 2008
T#T FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RMA—H At 1 April 32,257 31,792
INERAEER Currency realignment 456 2,616
BRZBEEE Impairment losses recognised 2,951 5,036
HEE A AT Uk Bl 2 FRIE Amounts written off as uncollectible (4,341) (5,867)
RAEETWEZFKE  Amounts recovered during the year (66) (1,320)
MR=A=+-—8 At 31 March 31,257 32,257

REREFBACBERNERRRDEEREX
§ BREBEER - FREHCREGER
ERFRIBAVMBREET 2RE)Z
BWER - AEBRZEERLERE
MR o

ERERBEEREKRREE31,551,000% T
(ZZF)\F 12,561,000 7T ) » &%
EREATRAVTLAEABTERE - F
ARBIRZFz— AEBHRZERENE
RZEHBERRTRE#EEER - B
b REEHESESHBEEEER
EWERRPUEEZEMRBRZREER
BEE(RMTE24)ZEH -

RZZZAF=ZA=+—8 EFE
EERARZEEERNEEZRE
& 31,551,000 T( =2 T N\ &
12,561,00087T) - HHEBBZREER
31,551,0008 7T °

BWERBETILFUNEHEERE X
FRE Z MR BEM 2R ¢
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Allowance for doubtful debts are trade debtors which delayed
payments after repeated collection efforts, aged over 1 year or
individually impaired which have been placed under liquidation
or in severe financial difficulties. The Group does not hold any

collateral over these balances.

Included in trade debtors are bills receivables of HK$31,551,000
(2008: HK$12,561,000) which have been discounted to the
banks with recourse. As part of the transaction, the Group
provided the bank with a credit guarantee over the expected
losses of those receivables. Accordingly, the Group continues
to include these discounted bills under trade debtors and has
recognised the cash received on the transfer as borrowings (see

note 24) until maturity.

At 31 March 2009, the carrying amount of the transferred
bills receivable pledged as security for the borrowings is
HK$31,551,000 (2008: HK$12,561,000). The carrying amount
of the associated liability is HK$31,551,000.

Included in trade debtors are the following amounts denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the group

entities:
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20. Trade Debtors (continued)

ZZThF —ZEENEF

2009 2008

THT FET

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BT Hong Kong dollars 5,063 11,094

ES United States dollars (“USD") 3,732 35,850
fTEEMIA 21. Derivative Financial Instruments

—ZThF —ZEENEFE

2009 2008

THT FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

SEERBEN Foreign exchange forward contracts 4,868 (13,940)

REBFTLUETFHERHFEYN R== The Group entered into a number of foreign exchange forward

BERNEZRA=Z+—8 ' EZZEEH2 contracts. As at 31 March 2009, the change in fair value of

NAEZENEE518,195,0008TaR (= these contracts recorded a gain of HK$18,195,000 (2008: a loss

TZT)\F 1 13,944,0008 TEE) ENZ
FEGEHBERTER BZEEHNBARI
BEAFRWERERRAEREE - &
SEFTYHESY, BEGHERESHE
REBABINETRITER AEEF
FEEFEz -0 EEMNBREHEERH
SMETBREZEEZ - FEEEES — @
HEZHSHERES SRS
BZHMESHEAEE @R Bt %
ERERBMSE B BAEER & NETHE
BUESEEENRNEE BREER
RERERBABNEIEELERFY
o

of HK$13,944,000) was recognised in the consolidated income
statement. The majority of these contracts are non-deliverable
forward contracts and will be settled in USD. Such contracts
were entered into as part of the Group's treasury operation for
the purpose of capturing the price differential between the spot
and forward foreign exchange markets by entering into bank
loan arrangements that were denominated in USD with the
similar amount and maturity dates on a one by one basis. Each
of these arrangements, when contracted by the Group, will lock
in a pre-determined return which will be recognised during the
terms of each of these arrangements. Accordingly, although the
valuation of each of these foreign exchange forward contracts
may give rise to a gain or loss at a particular date within the
term of the respective contract, such gain or loss will eventually

be substantially offset by each of these arrangements.
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TEERM I A

REHER  ZEBEABEZERIBIE
BHEHAZASHEBEERAT ¢

g

Principal amount

RIBBAE=ZAZ=+—H
At 31 March 2009

E801,000% T

Buy USD801,000
3,266,000 T

Buy USD3,266,000
5,820,000% T

Buy USD5,820,000
E404,000% 7t £3,190,000% 7T
Buy USD404,000 to 3,190,000

RIBSBNEZAZ=+—H
At 31 March 2008

E871,00024,400,000% 7T

Buy USD871,000 to 4,400,000
£1,104,00022,660,000% 7T
Buy USD1,104,000 to 2,660,000
F951,00021,135,000%E 7T

Buy USD951,000 to 1,135,000
B294,978%2,387,000% 7T

Buy USD294,978 to 2,387,000
F459,000&2,520,000% 7T

Buy USD459,000 to 2,520,000
£1,100,00023,687,000% 7T
Buy USD1,100,000 to 3,687,000
B47,696E T

Buy EUR47,696

£8,464,000H

Buy JPY8,464,000

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

21.Derivative
(Continued)

Financial

Instruments

The ranges of the total principal amounts of the outstanding

foreign exchange forward contracts to which the Group is

committed at the balance sheet date are as follows:

FIER
Maturity

—EBAFMA=T=A
22 April 2009

CETHFELAEA

5 May 2009

—EENFARA=H

3 June 2009
—ZEENFLtB+=REEZAFELA=1H
13 July 2009 to 30 July 2009

—EEN\ENA+-HE=ZEENFENA—H

11 April 2008 to 1 August 2008
—EE\ERAT=HEZZENFAA=TRA
12 September 2008 to 26 September 2008
—EEN\E+ANREEENE+A=+T—H

9 October 2008 to 31 October 2008
—EEN\F+—-AREAE=EENE+-A+=H
5 November 2008 to 13 November 2008
—EE\E+ZANBEZZENFt+=A=1+NAH
8 December 2008 to 29 December 2008
—EENE-AtRAZE-EEAE=RA=TH

7 January 2009 to 30 March 2009
—EENEZA+TRAZE-ZEENFRATIA
15 February 2008 to 19 May 2008
—EEN\FZRAH+ZHEZEE/\FEWA+NAH
22 February 2008 to 18 April 2008

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

Ex

Exchange rates

6.433% 7/ AR
USD/RMB6.433

6.585% T/ AR¥E
USD/RMB6.585
6.691%7T,/ AR¥
USD/RMB6.691
6.51026.610E 7T,/ AR
USD/RMB6.510 10 6.610

7.13587.169E T,/ AR
USD/RMB7.135 to 7.169
6.736E87.183% T,/ ARY
USD/RMB6.736 to 7.183
6.956%27.004% T,/ AR
USD/RMB6.956 to 7.094
6.677%6.985E 7T,/ AR
USD/RMB6.677 to 6.985
6.610%6.839% 7w,/ AR#
USD/RMB6.610 to 6.839
6.462%6.709E T,/ AR
USD/RMB6.462 to 6.709
11.47387T,/ BT
EUR/HK$11.473

0.0732RE #x
JPY/HK$0.0732
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22.
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EEMEMEHIA -

FHEFTETAREEERRLOAER
H HRAAERREEAXRSARTRE
HEEITARRTEMEE -

BHRITER RITER
kBEE

EHRTEFRRBTERRREEBET
JIEBERRNENEHRBEREXTEL
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E usD
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AR RMB

FRERTEREFANEH 001% &
414% (ZEZENF 10.18% £ 4.14%) °

21.Derivative Financial Instruments

(Continued)

The Group does not currently designate any hedging relationship

on the foreign exchange forward contracts for the purpose of

hedging accounting.

The above derivatives are measured at fair value at each balance

sheet date. Their fair values are determined based on the prices

quoted by the counterparty banks for the equivalent instruments

from the counterparty banks at the balance sheet date.

22. Short-termBank Deposits/Bank Balances

and Cash

Included in short-term bank deposits and bank balances and

cash are the following amounts denominated in currencies other

than the functional currencies of the group entities:

—EENF —TENF
2009 2008
FExT TiERT
HK$°000 HK$°000
44,549 90,774
15,021 4,265
1,667 1,853

All bank deposits carry interest ranging from 0.01% to 4.14%
(2008: 0.18% to 4.14%) per annum.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

23. Creditors and Accrued Charges

At the balance sheet date, the balance of creditors and accrued

charges included trade creditors of HK$343,203,000 (2008:

HK$388,490,000) and consideration payable for acquisition of
subsidiaries of HK$9,238,000 (2008: nil). An aged analysis of

trade creditors at the balance sheet date is as follows:

ZEBAEF —EBN\E
2009 2008
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
334,865 385,882
7,125 1,512
1,213 1,096
343,203 388,490

Included in creditors are the following amounts denominated

in currency Other than the functional currency of the group

entities to which they relate:

—ZTAF —EENF
2009 2008
FExT FTET
HK$°000 HK$'000
47,203 59,152
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24 $RITIEE 24. Bank Borrowings
ZEETAE —EZ)N\F
2009 2008
FET FHEx
HK$'000 HK$'000
RITEN Bank loans 485,160 862,638
ERERECHRERE Discounted bills with recourse (Note 20) 31,551 12,561
(F#3E20)
516,711 875,199
HHEA Secured 31,551 24,074
F3iigid Unsecured 485,160 851,125
516,711 875,199
RITEEFERMU The borrowings are repayable as follows:
THEHEE:
—FR Within one year 449,322 738,282
—FREMER More than one year but not exceeding two years 49,389 94,778
MERZE=ZFR More than two years but not more than three years 18,000 42,139
516,711 875,199
B AR—FREBEBIE  Less: Amounts due within one year shown under
MRRBEEZEH current liabilities (449,322) (738,282)
67,389 136,917
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24 SRITEE @) 24. Bank Borrowings (continued)

AEENRTEEAFANEHEBRT
BEFEM03%EEBHRITREIREM
1.25% RIBBERITRIEFEM2.5% E R
BERTEZEFREMI%E EMFRITREE
FEM3.5% ° ME—RAT1ER Z3E

The Group’s bank borrowings carry annual interests at the
range of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus
0.3% to HIBOR plus 1.25% and London Interbank Offered Rate
("LIBOR") plus 2.5% to LIBOR plus 3% and Singapore Interbank
Money Market Offered Rate (“SIBOR”) plus 3.5%. Interest is

BEE—RX - repriced in the period from 1 month up to 3 months.
—EThE —EENFE
2009 2008
BIRA=R Effective interest rates
EEBE Fixed-rate borrowings 1.10% t0 6.84% 2.19% t0 6.82%
FEMEE Variable-rate borrowings 0.55% to 1.23% 2.55% t0 3.91%

R1TE E B $E358,544,0008 T(= B Z
NE 613,563,000 8B T)BEEEE A
BENSER—FRES -

RITBERBTIALNFUEHEEREX
FRIEM 2 MR E M RN ZRIR ¢
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Included in bank borrowings are HK$358,544,000 (2008:
HK$613,563,000) at fixed-rate borrowings with the contractual

maturity dates within 1 year.

Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts
denominated in currency other than the functional currency of

the group entities to which they relate:

—ETAF —EENF
2009 2008
F#&T FTERT
HK$°000 HK$'000
143,735 291,002
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25 EERIBEE 25. Deferred Taxation Liabilities
UTABAEECHERACEIEELHRES The followings are the major deferred taxation liabilities and
BEHEEMNAAFER LLFRA2EBE assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during
- the current and prior years:

IEBIBITE
Accelerated KRAKAE
tax Tax Hit st
depreciation losses Others Total
FET FET FET FTET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Bf=E)
(Note)
R-BBLEMA—B At 1 April 2007 1,903 (1) - 1,892
WEHB AR Acquired on acquisition
of subsidiaries - - 5,742 5,742
FRARGEREE Charge (credit) to the
MER (GEA) (HFEE9) consolidated income
statement for
the year (Note 9) 23 7 (327) (297)
RZZEZENF=A=+—H At 31 March 2008 1,926 (4) 5,415 7,337
Wi — KB LR Acquired on acquisition
of a subsidiary - - 203 203
FRARGERER Charge (credit) to the
MER (G A) (BIEE9) consolidated income
statement for the
year (Note 9) 300 (13) (542) (255)
BEEHE Effect of change in tax rate (110) - - (110)
RZZEZAF=BA=+—H At 31 March 2009 2,116 (17) 5,076 7,175
2 HKRRRWBHEARRRAIAER Note: Others mainly represent deferred tax liabilities arising from fair
BRWBEEEEBREEVEE, ALt value adjustments on assets acquired (i.e. intangible assets, prepaid
HERYE BERIKBEMEEZIEL lease payments and property, plant and equipment) on acquisition
HEEE - of subsidiaries.
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HABEHEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

25. Deferred Taxation Liabilities (continued)

For the purpose of balance sheet presentation, certain deferred
taxation assets and liabilities have been offset. The following
is the analysis of the deferred taxation balances for financial

reporting purposes:

ZEEBAE —EENE

2009 2008

T#ET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

EERBEE Deferred taxation liabilities 7,175 7,337

RZBTZNhE=ZA=+—-0  x&HE
BARERH K E B 4322,475,0008 T
(ZZZ)\HF 250,183,000 7t ) o #
KRR ER - BE_TZTAF=A=
+—H > ERFABHEE100,000% T
(ZZEZTN\FE 23,0008 ) BAER
ZERUERBEZEEERMABEEREE
E-EEENE 2THEHEE BB
BEERAREERT ZEFURERIE
ERIBEE o AR REETE B R R AT
mE - MABEAE T322,375000%
T(=ZZFZ/\E :250,160,00058 7T ) IE
JEFi1E & E 0 H $1291,530,000% T
(ZZZT)\F 242,522,000 7T ) B 1§
BIETERBLEE  SRELR_Z—=
FRZATEIH -

RESHBRER - 0 E P E KK
BRAAB-ZZNF-—A-HERED
B K BE T BE T BREL 2 R D IRAR B R
F384,245,0008 T ML 2 B i = EAE H
BEEBRIRERE - FREREFHERRE
M2k FAMBE - F5 b 28 & B o 42 ) 3
CERERBRE MERZERTR
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Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

At 31 March 2009, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$322,475,000 (2008: HK$250,183,000)
available to offset against future profits. A deferred taxation
asset has been recognised in respect of HK$100,000 (2008:
HK$23,000) of such losses as at 31 March 2009 to set off
with taxable temporary differences of the Group. Management
believes that there will be sufficient future profits available
in the future for realisation of deferred taxation assets in
respect of such tax losses by reference to financial budgets.
No deferred taxation asset has been recognised in respect
of the remaining HK$322,375,000 (2008: HK$250,160,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in the unrecognised tax losses, HK$291,530,000 (2008:
HK$242,522,000) may be carried forward indefinitely and
the remaining balance will expire at various dates up to and

including 2013.

Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of the temporary differences
attributable to the undistributable retained profits earned by the
subsidiaries in Mainland China amounting to HK$384,245,000
starting from 1 January 2008 under the New Law of Mainland
China that requires withholding tax upon the distribution of
such profits to the shareholders as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in

the foreseeable future.
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26. R 26. Share Capital
EE
Authorised ERTRARE
ZESBAFER Issued and fully paid

ZEENF ZZETAF —2ENE

2009 & 2008 2009 2008

THERT TERT FET

HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BREME0.10BIT 2R Shares of HK$0.10 each 80,000 53,576 48,741

FARQRBZEBITRABUTEE ! Movements in the issued share capital of the Company during

the year are as follows:

R EE
Number a0l
of shares Amount
TR FHET
‘000 HK$'000

R-ZEE+LENA—H At 1 April 2007 481,642 48,164

TEERE (MiEa) Exercise of share options (note a) 5,770 577

RZBZENFE=A=+—H At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 487,412 48,741

kR—ZEZN\EFEWMA—H

BERD (MizEb) Placement of shares (note b) 50,000 5,000

THEERE (FiEEc) Exercise of share options (note ¢) 1,624 162

BpEEE (MEEd) Shares repurchased (note d) (3,274) (327)

RZZZ2AF=A=+—H At31 March 2009 535,762 53,576

5T - Notes:

(a) REBZE-ZZENF=ZA=+—-HBLE (a)  During the year ended 31 March 2008, 5,770,000 share options
E R 15,770,000 2 BB R ER D & were exercised, resulting in the issue of 500,000 shares, 400,000
1T A2A TR 2 A% $7500,000 shares, 1,000,000 shares, 1,578,000 shares and 2,292,000 shares
B ~ 400,0008 ~1,000,0008% -~ of HK$0.10 each in the Company at a price of HK$1.190, HK$1.590,
1,578,000/% % 2,292,0000% & K @ & HK$1.690, HK$2.004 and HK$4.050 per share respectively.

0.108 T zhRf  BREEDFIAH1.190
¥ 5T~ 1.590% 7T~ 1.69058 T * 2.004
BT K 4.05058 7T ©
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HABEHEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

26. Share Capital (continued)

(b)

On 18 April 2008, the Company entered into (i) a subscription
agreement with Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony (“Mr. Ip”), an executive
director and the chairman of the board of directors of the
Company, for the subscription of 50,000,000 new shares of the
Company at the price of HK$5.50 per share (the “Subscription”),
and (ii) a placing agreement with Mr. Ip and Macquarie Capital
Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”) pursuant to which Mr. Ip
agreed to sell and the Placing Agent agreed to procure the sale of
50,000,000 existing shares of the Company (the “Placing Shares”)
at a price of HK$5.50 per share (the “Placing”). Completion of
the Subscription took place on 30 April 2008. The net proceeds of
the Subscription amounted to approximately HK$268 million. The
Company intended to use the net proceeds from the Subscription
principally as general working capital, and for capital expenditure

and business expansion.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, 1,624,000 share options
were exercised, resulting in the issue of 200,000 shares, 692,000
shares, 540,000 shares and 192,000 shares of HK$0.10 each in
the Company at a price of HK$1.590, HK$2.004, HK$4.05 and

HK$1.950 per share respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, 3,786,000 shares were
repurchased on the Stock Exchange at the unit price ranging
from HK$2.05 to HK$2.25 at an aggregate consideration of
HK$8,167,000 which was charged to retained profits. Out of
these shares, 3,274,000 shares repurchased was cancelled during
the year while 512,000 shares repurchased on 23 March 2009
at aggregate consideration of HK$1,150,000 were cancelled

subsequently after the balance sheet date.

All shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing shares

in issue in all respects.

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report
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27.

28.
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27.

28.

Capital Risk Management Objectives
and Policies

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which mainly
include the bank borrowings disclosed in note 24, and equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising

issued share capital and reserves including retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends and new share issues as well as the issue of new

debts or the redemption of existing debts.

Financial Instruments

&R TAER Categories of financial instruments
ZEThEF —EENFE
2009 2008
F#ET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
MBRE Financial assets
RAREFAEBR Fair value through profit and loss
TSI A — Derivative financial instruments 4,868 -
ERREWERT (B3F Loans and receivables (including cash
Re&RRESEEER) and cash equivalents) 1,796,752 1,746,101
AHHERE Available-for-sale investment 12,360 12,209
HMBAR Financial liabilities
BRAREFAERE Fair value through profit and loss
—fTESRIA — Derivative financial instruments - 13,940
BRI Amortised cost 976,094 1,340,922
ERCIEEMERAT ZEENE_ZBTNEEER
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HABEHEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

28. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade debtors,
other debtors, derivative financial instruments, available-for-
sale investment, short-term bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, creditors and bank borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner. There has been no significant change to the Group’s
exposure to market risk or the manner in which it manages

and measures the risk.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency sales
and purchases, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. Approximately 5% of the Group’s sales are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities making the sale, whilst almost 90% of purchases
are denominated in the relevant group entities’ functional

currency.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the balance
sheet date are disclosed in respective notes. During the year,
the Group has entered into certain foreign exchange forward
contracts to reduce its exposure to potential variability of foreign
currency risk arising from changes in foreign exchange exposure.
The management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency

risk should the need arise.
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28. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group mainly exposes to currency risk of USD and Hong
Kong dollars. The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% increase and decrease in RMB, the functional currency of
respective group entities against the relevant foreign currencies.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% change
in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes trade
debtors, bank balances, creditors as well as bank borrowings.
A positive number below indicates an increase in profit after
taxation where RMB strengthen 5% against the relevant currency
for net liability position and vice versa. For a 5% weakening
of RMB against the relevant currency, there would be an equal

and opposite impact on the profit after taxation.

—E2ThEF —EENF
2009 2008
TER FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
5,268 9,324
(747) (641)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank deposits and bank borrowings (see Note
24 for details of these borrowings). However, since the bank
deposits and bank borrowings will mature within one year, the

management considers the risk is insignificant to the Group.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate short-term bank deposits and bank

borrowings (see Notes 22 and 24 for details).
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HABEHEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

28. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group's bank balances have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest
rate on bank balances. The directors consider the Group’s
exposure of the short-term bank deposits and bank balances
to interest rate risk is not significant as interest-bearing bank

balances are within short maturity period.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for interest-bearing bank
balances and bank borrowings at the balance sheet date and
the stipulated changes taking place at the beginning of the
financial year and held constant throughout the financial year

to floating rates.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments
at the balance sheet date. For variable-rate short-term bank
deposits and bank borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of assets and liabilities outstanding at the balance
sheet date were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change

in interest rates.

If interest rates on interest-bearing bank borrowings and short-
term bank deposits had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the profit after
taxation for the year ended 31 March 2009 would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$45,000 (2008: decrease/increase
by approximately HK$691,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group's exposure to interest rates on its interest-bearing short-

term bank deposits and variable-rate bank borrowings.
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28. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its investments
in derivative financial instruments. The Group’s other price risk is
mainly concentrated on the foreign exchange forward contracts

entered during the year.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to other price risks for derivatives at the reporting
date. If the forward rate of the foreign exchange forward
contracts had been 5% higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the profit after tax for the year ended 31
March 2009 would increase/decrease by HK$6,042,000 (2008:
increase/decrease by HK$11,970,000).

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2009, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to perform an obligation by the counterparties are arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets

as stated in the consolidated balance sheet.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated responsible personnel for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt and other debt at each balance sheet date to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider

that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the

counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.
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28. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, the
Group does not have any other significant concentration of
credit risk on trade and other debtors. Trade receivables consist
of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries

and geographical areas.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and

ensure compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity. As at 31 March 2009, the Group had available unutilised
bank borrowings facilities of approximately HK$1,468,959,000
(2008: HK$879,753,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The

table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

For derivative instruments settled on a net basis, undiscounted

net cash outflows are presented.
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28. €W T B (&)
HERBEEEREBE(H)

A m Bz ()
mBEZRFFER R

) 2 2009
HiTERBRR Non-derivative financial liabilities
EAEIREMEME  Creditors and other payables
HOER Bank loans

-%8 - at variable rate

-T8 - at fived rate
RITEX Bank overdrafts
-+ 183 2008
FTEMBRR Non-derivative financial liabilities
EHBRIREMEMR  Creditors and other payables
HRAEH Bank loans

-58 - at variable rate

-E8 - at fixed rate
RAEX Bank overdrafts

fiEIR-RERE Derivatives- net settlement
FRUHNE Non-deliverable foreign exchange

EHAN forward contracts
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28. Financial Instruments (continued)

mEFS
ERAIZ
Weighted
average
interest rate

0.93
340

3.08
398

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables

—FNUEE WENALE FRRRE

-EANLE TRERF TRALE RELE

—@AR FTRBE-E  Morethan  More than Total
Less Tmonth  1Tyearbut 2yearshut contractual RAEE
than to less than less than undiscounted Carrying
1 month 1 year 2 years Syears  cash flow amount
TER TER TR TER AR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
240,399 218,842 - - 459,41 459,41
14,814 77,038 49,784 18,147 159,783 158,167
186,748 174,492 - - 361,240 358,544
142 - - - 142 142
442,103 470372 49,784 18,147 980,406 976,094
234,944 224,858 5,404 - 465,206 465,206
- 130,903 97,645 42,481 271,09 261,636
- 623,353 - - 623,353 613,563
517 - - - 517 517
235,461 979,114 103,049 42,481 1360,105 1,340,922
- 13,940 - - 13,940 13,940
235,461 993,054 103,049 42,481 1374045 1,354,862
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28. €W T B (&) 28. Financial Instruments (continued)
LRE Fair value
BEEERVBKEENAABENRET The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
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determined as follows:

o the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments) is
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using

prices from observable current market transactions; and

o the fair value of derivative financial instruments is
calculated using quoted forward rates obtained from
banks. Where such prices are not available, fair value
is determined by using discounted cash flow analysis
using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the

instruments for non-option derivatives.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair

values.
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290. R RESTE
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ER TEBBRAERTHERESS
ERAQAZERITRA0%ZHES
oW RITEMECEREZERE
METZROBE LRBERSHEBT
BEBITRAZ30% ERESBSAAT
ZREMER  EEM—FARN RFME
AT ZBRERGEHE  THEBA
NETHEBRITRMZ1% °

i

RZZZNF+A=+—8 > X2AR

TR BRI 48 8%5,304,000
(: = )\F :8,326,000) REBERET
M8 (ZEENE 116)uZBEES(E
BHTES) BRITEER1.9508 T
(ZZBZT)\FE 1 4.05087T) - (EZHRY
BRECZEEWRZEREARII8ET
(ZBZN\F  11587T) °

29. Share Option Scheme

On 3 September 2002, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the "Existing Scheme”), which will expire on 2
September 2012 in order to comply with the terms of Chapter
17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange. The purpose of the Existing Scheme is to recognise
and motivate the participants and to provide incentives and a
direct economic interest in attaining the long term business
objectives of the Company. Under the Existing Scheme, the
directors may grant options to any eligible employees of the
Group, including directors of the Company or its subsidiaries,
legal, financial, management and technical advisers and
consultants, major customers and raw material and machinery
suppliers of the Group, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Options granted are exercisable within ten years from the date
of grant, where the acceptance date should not be later than 28
days after the date of offer. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is
payable on acceptance of the grant of options. The subscription
price of the option share is not less than the higher of (i) the
closing price of the shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing prices of the shares on the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares. The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Existing Scheme may not
exceed in nominal amount of 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company at the date of approval of the Existing Scheme.
However, the total maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding shares options must not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital from time to time. The
number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue from time to time, without

prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.

On 31 October 2008, a total of 5,304,000 (2008: 8,326,000)
share options were granted to 118 (2008: 116) full time
employees, including the executive directors, at an exercise
price of HK$1.950 (2008: HK$4.050) per option share under
the terms of the Existing Scheme. Total consideration received
from employees for taking up the options granted amounted
to HK$118 (2008: HK$115).

ERIWVIEEERAR ZFFENEZZTALEFEEER



290. B REST &l )

HABEHEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

29. Share Option Scheme (continued)

AATZBERESE ZERITEBRE A summary of the movements of the outstanding options and
FEMEBEzMEEITEERBE=A their related weighted average exercise prices during each of the

=t—BLEHMFEZBHIINT :

RiTitdl Existing Scheme
ETH Weighted average exercise
SRIHE price per share

two years ended 31 March under the Company’s share option

scheme is as follows:

BhREHE

Number of share options

RZFENE R W-TEAE
mA-A ERE ERE HB/4% ZAZ1-R
HATE Rt T Cancelled/ HATE

RtiAH I8  Outstanding Granted Brercised lapsed ~ Outstanding
Date Exercise at during during during at
of grant price 1.4.2008 the year the year theyear  31.3.2009
B
HKS
“ERCET-ATER 1190 1,100,000 - - - 1,100,000
14.11.2002
“EEMERATLA 1.590 1,325,000 - 200,000 - 1,125,000
17.5.2004
“ZEMETANA 1.690 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
8.10.2004
“EERETAZTHA 2.004 2,486,000 - 692,000 - 1,794,000
24.10.2005
“ZELEMAZA 4.050 6,008,000 - 540,000 88,000 5,380,000
34.2007
ERN\ETAZT-A 1.950 - 5304000 192,000 - 5,112,000
31.10.2008

12,919,000 5,304,000 1,624,000 88,000 16,511,000

B A B A A
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS

2.79 1.950 2627 4.050 2.533
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EHE
il 237 Weighted average exercise
SRR price per share

136

Existing Scheme

29. Share Option Scheme (continued)

BhERE
Number of share options
RIBBLE R R-ZERNE
mA-H £RE FRE  EB/AM ZR=t-H

BRI il
RiLAH T#E  Outstanding Granted

Date Exercise at during
of grant price 1.4.2007 the year
B
HKS
“ERCET-AT0A 1190 1,600,000 -
14.11.2002
ZETMERATLR 1590 1,875,000 -
17.5.2004
“EBIMETANA 1690 3,000,000 -
8.10.2004
“ERRETACTOA 2004 4,164,000 -
24.10.2005
“EZtEMA=R 4050 - 8306000
342007

T Cancelled/ HAITR
Exercised lapsed  Outstanding
during during at
the year theyear  31.3.2008

500,000 - 1,100,000

400,000 150,000 1,325,000

1,000,000 - 2,000,000

1,578,000 100,000 2,486,000

2,292,000 26,000 6,008,000

10,639,000 8,326,000

5,770,000 276,000 12,919,000

HKS HKS HKS

2663 1972 2195

HKS HKS
1720 4050
ERICIEBMERAR

—ERN\E-BBAERER
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29. B REST &l ()

29. Share Option Scheme (continued)

EHEEBERULERRANESEEER Details of the options held by the directors included in the
EZHEBNT: above table are as follows:
BREHA
Number of share options
RERE
ZiLHES
Mg
Increase
R=ZENE due to RZBENE
MA—A appointment FRg ER ZA=1-H
HRTE  of anew &l B HRAE
RitAH fHEE  Outstanding director ~ Granted  Exercised Outstanding
Date Exercise at during during during at
of grant price  1.4.2008 the year the year the year  31.3.2009
BT
HKS
RT3t Existing Scheme  —EFE=F+-F+MA 1.190 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
14.11.2002
“ZEMERATEA 1.590 600,000 100,000 - - 700,000
17.5.2004
“EERETACTOA 2.004 400,000 200,000 - - 600,000
24.10.2005
“EZLEMAZA 4.050 600,000 200,000 - - 800,000
3.4.2007
“ZEN\ETA=T-H 1.950 - - 800,000 100,000 700,000
31.10.2008
2,600,000 500,000 800,000 100,000 3,800,000

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report
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REAH
Date
of grant

R HE Existing Scheme  —EFZF+-B1MA
14.11.2002

ZEEMERATLA

17.5.2004

“ZFRETAZTMA

24.10.2005

“TRLEMA=ZA

3.4.2007

FARTEBREDHOMEFT IR
BER4.939B (=TT /\F 153188
) e REEREARTEBREZFHR
BENERRTS3FE(ZEENE: 7.65
F) e

R-ZBENFTA=Z+-HAREEBRE
2T A AREBERER0.20068 T - A
R-ZETLENA=ZAREBREZ(S
STARBEARAER0.46618 T °
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29. Share Option Scheme (continued)

BREHE
Number of share options
ZEELE RZZ2E) E
mE—A FRE ERE ZA=t-

AT B 1% !Jnﬁﬂﬁ

758 Outstanding Granted Exercised  Outstanding

Exercise at during during at

price 1.4.2007 the year the year 31.3.2008
BT
HK$

1.190 1,500,000 - 500,000 1,000,000

1.590 600,000 - - 600,000

2.004 600,000 - 200,000 400,000

4.050 - 1,400,000 800,000 600,000

2,700,000 1,400,000 1,500,000 2,600,000

The weighted average share price at the dates of exercise of
share option during the year was HK$4.939 (2008: HK$5.318).
The option outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted
average remaining contract life of 7.53 years (2008: 7.65

years).

The estimated fair value of the options granted on grant date of
31 October 2008 was HK$0.2006 per share while the estimated
fair value of the options granted on grant date of 3 April 2007
was HK$0.4661 per share.
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29. Share Option Scheme (continued)

MEQAETRE N R - SR
EERE o REEER 2B AES
/T :

This fair value was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing

model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

ZEThE —ETN\F

2009 2008

MRETIIRE Weighted average share price HK$1.874 HK$4.016
TEE Exercise price HK$1.950 HK$4.050
BErRiE Expected volatility 23.35% - 25.41% 23.33% -31.61%
FERTEIR Expected life 2.4 - 3.9 years 0.5 - 5 years
92 Bes R 22 Risk free rate 1.092% - 1.763%  3.58% - 4.005%
ETREE Expected dividend yield 5.23% 3.70%

HRAEIR -SFHENIEEERATER
RAREFBZ2BR BEREZR
B ALUTERABRZIEBUIEAL
ENnEzfhE -

FEFHOREDRIBEAR AR RERBE2 4F
BZ39FR(=ZBENF | 05FE5F )2
BLRENE RZEXERZHETF
HERFBELE - TERIIRITHRZE
HAENFE RETEBZHEMTE

R-ZZBZENE=ZA=+—8, EEEIE
X TERERXS2HEERA1,064,000
BR(ZEZEN\EF : 3,881,00087T) ©
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Because the Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the
input of highly subjective assumptions, including the volatility
of share prices, changes in subjective input assumptions can

materially affect the fair value estimate.

Expected volatility was determined by using historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over the previous 2.4 to 3.9 years
(2008: 0.5 to 5 years). The expected life used in the model
has been estimated, based on management’s best estimate,
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and

behavioural considerations.
The Group recognised total expenses of HK$1,064,000 (2008:

HK$3,881,000) relating to share option payment transactions
during the year ended 31 March 2009.
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30. E AR AE 30. Commitments
—ZTAF —ZEENF
2009 2008
FTHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
[EEIFSEELp s ] Contracted for but not provided in the
RTEE consolidated financial statements
in respect of the
=L/ E R — acquisition of property,
G plant and equipment 16,715 24,553
— B —REME A A — acquisition of a subsidiary - 16,511
16,715 41,064
3. EEMHOERE 31. Operating Lease Commitments
TREEZERAA The Group as lessee
REEH  AEBBRTIFRERZ At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding
HEVE TEIKMEREZ TR commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
HEERIMARESSRARFEEE cancellable operating leases in respect of rented properties
g which fall due as follows:
ZBEAE —ZEIN\F
2009 2008
FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 9,375 7,547
¥_ZFERF (BR In the second to fifth year inclusive 21,427 22,715
MEBFEER)
hFE# After five years 26,330 31,606
57,132 61,868
BIBEAEET L 2L HEHH— Under the leases entered into by the Group, the lease terms
FE2t+Fo and rentals are fixed from one year to ten years.
o KATR—BHBLARTEEHER In addition, a subsidiary of the Company also has an arrangement
B ZAFA-RBIH2EEFES to pay a pre-determined annual amount for the use of a piece
B o B RMIFES6HE - of land. Details are disclosed in note 36.
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31.

32.

33.
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Operating Lease Commitments
(Continued)

The Group as lessor
At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted with
tenants to receive the following future minimum sub-leasing

payments in respect of storage tanks and ancillary facilities:

—EENF —2ENE
2009 2008
FET TiERT
HK$°000 HK$°000

- 300

Related Party Transactions

During the year, the Group paid rent of HK$960,000 (2008:
HK$960,000) and HK$600,000 (2008: HK$600,000) to
Goldex Investments Limited and Galsheer Investments Limited
respectively in which Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony and Mr. Yip Tsz
Hin Stephen, the directors of the Company have beneficial

interests respectively.

The key management personnel are the directors and the five
highest paid individual of the Company. The details of the

remuneration paid to them are set out in note 7.
Retirement Benefit Plan

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance (the "ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in December 2000. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Employees who
were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment
of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the
ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new
employees joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000 are

required to join the MPF Scheme.
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33.

34.
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BIABEREE @)

RABRPERL M BELREETIH
B AT 2 E 2 Bl 2R B R AR AU AT &
ZRE -MEBLARAZHRAREHFEZ
HETEIL  ERZBRAKEBEANFEZE
o AEEZE-BEERAZXRAKER
sTEIRMERSERHR -

=

REWERAER(BEEINR)
215,052,000 n( = & & N\ F:
11,818,000 7t ) (A R A KB iR &R Al
HEPAES Ao E S LA
R-ZZEZHE=R=+—-0 HBEH
& FE 14 Z 1 7X408,0008 T(=FEN
F 1 404,000 ) HARN FZEGTE -
DEREEREERESM -

W B5 BfY I8 1~ B

RZZZNFEXA+LA KXOFEE
100% R ZEE2EMBARERHE
EBERATDANBERZEMBRE - 7
HAERPEARBRIZAAGRATF
FTERTEAMREREREEEN -
BRE2MBREZBENER17,804,000
AR (HEEMN#19,936,0008TT) ° &%
HWERABESTEAREAR -

33.

34.

Retirement Benefit Plan (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated
by the government of Mainland China. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs
to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit

plan is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense as included in staff costs and recognised in
the consolidated income statement of HK$15,052,000 (2008:
HK$11,818,000) represents contributions paid or payable to
these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
plans. As at 31 March 2009, contributions of HK$408,000
(2008: HK$404,000) due in respect of the reporting period had
not been paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid over

subsequent to the balance sheet date.
Acquisition of Subsidiaries

On 17 June 2008, Yip's Ink & Chemicals (Group) Limited, which
is an indirect 100% interest owned subsidiary of the Company,
acquired the entire equity interest of Fusen, a private limited
company established in Mainland China. Fusen is primarily
engaged in the manufacture of and trading in coatings in
Mainland China. The purchase consideration for the entire
equity interest in Fusen was RMB17,804,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$19,936,000). This acquisition has been

accounted for using the purchase method.
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HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

FET
HK$'000

W FERE Net assets acquired:
¥ BMERERE Property, plant and equipment 21,688
A LA E Prepaid lease payments 4,350
=78 Inventories 851
FEUWBR X Trade debtors 1,303
HAeb R BRI R TS TRIE Other debtors and prepayments 1,844
BEEE Intangible assets 811
IRITHEHBRERS Bank balances and cash 68
FEFERTX Trade creditors (990)
Hitt e IR R ETEA Other creditors and accrued charges (1,947)
RITEE Bank borrowings (7,839)
EEFBEE Deferred taxation liabilities (203)
&t Total 19,936
ZRAR Satisfied by:

RBE Cash 5,913

EAERRRESER Creditors and accrued charges 4,034

WEEKMB AR & Deposit paid for acquisition of a subsidiary 9,989

19,936

WM B AR 2B F R FE - Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

BERE Cash consideration 5,913

WEzRERESEEER Cash and cash equivalents acquired (68)

5,845

HREFEERYELHBREEZHES
% WUBFZ2FEECRRBAR
DABETEMS WBRHYLAEFY

FEE o fair value adjustments are required.

Other than the intangible assets and the corresponding effect
on deferred taxation liabilities, the acquiree’s net assets were

revalued to fair value before the acquisition. Accordingly, no

CHBEFEEZARENREXMEE
BE CHUBEFLEEHEBRZER K
EIAERUBE=FHEETEAIER
NEERBERYEACXHERES
ZRERMEHZTHIZERE -

The fair value of the intangible assets acquired, which relates to
the non-competition covenants given by the vendors of Fusen
for not establishing, directly or indirectly, within Mainland China
any enterprise to produce or trade coating products for a period
of three years after the acquisition, has been determined by

reference to professional valuations.
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34. WEE T B A B (#)
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RUBHHEZEZEERN LHERRES
2,851,00058 L@ A o

i LARNBER ST NEFNA—B R
R BE_ZEZENF=RA=+—HBLHF
EAREEZEE¥EEEREAS,110,882,000
B MBE-ZZEAF=R=+—H
I FEZHRER264,792,00058 T ©
ZERERTHZHA X R —EBTM
R-ZZBZENFEA-—BZRKRBERER
EREESCEEEREEEE I8
STEIAERREZ ZTEH -

BE-—ST/\E=A=1+-—ALEE.
RBHBAT  XBRUEFAER
B W 0 T 2 R A0 T

(@) R-ZZEZELENA—B IMH
EUIREERAFEER THiR
RERLD(MEDREARES
T5% R 2 BEKBELR) KEE
MERZE T HERAT([EMERE])
ZEHBEAER  c AMBRED—XK
RPBAERLZFHIEEFRD
A TEREREREERHET K
(—EARABRRAMBHIE
ZRE) BEEMNREZBRA
¥ #% 2 X f8 555,568,000 A R #
(HHEM#57,180,000/8TT) ° HI1E
WERABESTEEEAR -

34. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

Fusen contributed a profit of HK$2,851,000 for the period from

the date of acquisition to the balance sheet date.

If the above acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2008,
total group turnover for the year ended 31 March 2009 would
have been HK$5,110,882,000 and profit for the year ended
31 March 2009 would have been HK$264,792,000. The pro
forma information is for illustrative purpose only and is not
necessarily an indication of turnover and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 April 2008, nor it intended

to be a projection of future results.

The summary of the acquisition of subsidiaries, the net
assets acquired in the transactions and the goodwill arising
on acquisition for the year ended 31 March 2008 was as

follows:

(@ On 1 August 2007, Jiangmen Handsome Chemical
Development Limited and Yip’s Industrial Holdings Limited,
both of which are indirect 75% interest owned subsidiaries
of the Company, acquired the entire equity interest of &=
MEGEC THRAT("EMERE"), a sino-foreign equity
joint venture company with limited liability established
in Mainland China. M &%3Eis primarily engaged in the
manufacture of and trading in butyl acetate (being a solvent
used in the wood coating and other coating industries) in
Mainland China. The purchase consideration for the entire
equity interest inZ M &% 3 was RMB55,568,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$57,180,000). This acquisition was

accounted for using the purchase method.

ERIWVIEEERAR ZFFENEZZTALEFEEER



34. WEE T B A B (#)

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

Wiz FERE . Net assets acquired:
W% - MERRME Property, plant and equipment
LIS Prepaid lease payments
mEEE Intangible assets
IRITHEBRRE Bank balances and cash
ELERBBEE Deferred taxation liabilities
&t Total
[EES Goodwill
RESF Total consideration
FRER Satisfied by:
HE Cash
AR E Consideration payable*
WEEHEB AR 2 Net cash outflow arising
REFAREFEE  on acquisition
RERE Cash consideration
KRR Cash and cash
REEMEER equivalents acquired
* R-ZEZTAEFE=ZRA=1+—-HEEREN *

IRRRETTEM -

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

REGHA
WUEET 2

IRESAE DNRAERE DNRE
Acquiree’s
carrying

amount before Fair value Fair

acquisition adjustments value

FET FET FET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

4,066 4,278 8,344

200 2,320 2,520

- 9,745 9,745

328 - 328

- (4,086) (4,086)

4,594 12,257 16,851

40,329

27180

54,094

3086

57,180

(54,094)

328

(53,766)

Included in creditors and accrued charges at 31 March 2009.
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34. WEE T B A B (#)

WEELEcHEREAREERRE
FEERMREREARETRES
BeRBRENEMEE ZHREX
EzaEEE-

CHBELEEZAREBEIRERE
HEEE CHWBREREEDNEHR
BIRBEEZH&EBRRATFERE
BRAZTFHBETEREER
HEIBERIEMLERERE
BEREMESREMMAEHZTRFR

i

¥

o

3

by R=ZZENFZ-A—-H HMIt (b)

IRRERAR(AARBERES
5% ERZHBAR)EREER
HESERATNBRESIE
ITEBERDB(THRE] —BHRHR
BAERIZERETIEBEE
tE VTHBIE=ZARBRELE
TELFN2ERB) 22 BRAE
o RACTEEEBAEPEKX
ELEERHBECER -GSk
RECEHIRAEZZBEERE
#25,857,000A R B(HE R K
27,564,000 7T) - 2 EUWE T3
BEEAR-
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34. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

The goodwill on acquisition represents the value obtainable
from synergies with the Group on the economy of scale
of manufacture of and trading in acetate products and

centralising the Group’s sourcing network.

The fair value of the intangible assets acquired, which
relates to the non-competition covenants given by the
vendors and their respective ultimate shareholders for not
establishing, directly or indirectly, within Mainland China
any enterprise to produce or trade acetate products for a
period ranging from five to ten years after the acquisition

was determined by reference to professional valuations.

On 1 February 2008, Concord Chemical Storaging
Limited, an indirect 75% interest owned subsidiary of
the Company, acquired the entire equity interest of Taixing
Jinjiang Chemical Industry Co., Limited (“Taixing”), a
wholly foreign-owned enterprise with limited liability
established in Mainland China, wholly owned by Mr. Ching
Hak (the “Vendor”), an independent third party, through
Min Jun (HK) Company. Taixing is primarily engaged in the
manufacture and sales of ethanol and carbon dioxide in
Mainland China. The purchase consideration for the entire
equity interest in Taixing was RMB25,857,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$27,564,000). This acquisition was

accounted for using the purchase method.

ERIWVIEEERAR ZFFENEZZTALEFEEER



34. WEE T B A B (#)

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

Rabtal
WES 2
RS NAERE A=
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before Fair value Fair
acquisition adjustments value
FERT FER FERT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
KBz FERE Net assets acquired:
Y% - MERRME Property, plant and equipment 52,683 (958) 51,725
A TS Prepaid lease payments 14,678 5,901 20,579
BEE Intangible assets - 3,945 3,945
IRITEE— Bank borrowings — amount due
—FREH within one year (42,242) - (42,242)
IRITEE - Bank borrowings — amount due
—FEEH after one year (5,429) - (5,429)
ELEFHEERE Deferred taxation liabilities - (1,656) (1,656)
At Total 19,690 7,232 26,922
S Goodwill 642
REES Total consideration 27,564
XAHAER Satisfied by:
RE Cash 25,344
EAFRE Consideration payable* 2,220
27,564
WEEHMIB AT 2  Net cash outflow arising
REFREH on acquisition
RHENRE Cash consideration (25,344)
* R-ZBZNE=ZR=1+—-HEBEREF * Included in creditors and accrued charges at 31 March
IR RETER - 2009.
Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report 147



FREBTEIMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

34. WEE T B A B (#)

35.

148

AWBEmEE BB EEAEEREE
HEACBAEEXBMELE ZHBEXN
BRBEE EEEACEBLEEX
BE-—SRATEENEER T
BB CEEBAIEZBFEN -

CHBEREEZARBENERESE
HEBEE CEWBEFEEDNETH
EARTEREBRAFHBEESD
BAREZI&HE  REE - HT
B LURBEREBTEERBER
VEFREEEEZER(EESTR
FHBERECEE S ER) ME
Bz PmFRE -

RUBEHREE-_ZEZNF=ZA=1+—
BAIEFEE - EMERESRS4,698,000/8 7T
i A & 3= B14%152,601,00058 TTET 1B ©

WEEE

REZZBZENFHEAZ+H A2RAZH
E2ENEBLARESE AL IARAT
(TEEREDEMMIEIBRIATARE
METARXRA(TER ] MEHIBRE
BEMA L EEAEEREREZLQT)
Y AESBELE  #HE #E
E-BEERRIARMBMER] 4
MIRIMEMIRENERER - BRI
AREEAHNERTENETEE &
FHBARNRAERERE TFHAK &
BEmE - Bk ZREETVEEEL
ZHBEFHZWEREBFARE 254
EZBENRER19,570,0008 T °

34. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

35.

The goodwill on acquisition represents the value obtainable
from synergies with the Group on the vertical integration
into ethanol manufacturing that would further enhance
the Group's competitiveness on the business of production

and distribution of ethyl acetate.

The fair value of the intangible assets acquired, which
relates to the non-competition covenants given by
the Vendor for not establishing, directly or indirectly
manufacture ethanol in Jiangsu Province, Anhui Province,
Zhejiang Province, Shandong Province and Shanghai of
Mainland China, but the Vendor is allowed to carry on
trading activities of ethanol in these districts, for a period
of five years after the acquisition, was determined by

reference to professional valuations.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, B8 contributed
a profit of HK$4,698,000 while Taixing recorded a loss of
HK$2,601,000 for the period from the date of acquisition to

the balance sheet date.
Acquisition of Assets

On 30 May 2008, Hang Cheung Petrochemical Limited (“HCP"),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into an agreement with Pak Lam Chemical Company Limited
and Mayland Chemical Company Limited (the “Sellers”), both
Hong Kong incorporated companies not connected to the
Group, to purchase certain assets relating to the manufacturing,
selling, promoting, trading and testing of coatings for electronic
appliances, machine cases, toys and corresponding solvent
products which are under the name and style of “Pak Lam

Group”, “Pak Lam” and “Mayland”, including technology
and intellectual property rights, customer relationship and
trademarks and patent brands from the Sellers. The purchase
consideration for the assets acquired was HK$19,570,000 after
taking into account of the adjustment on the level of revenue
assurance in respect of the revenue generated from these

intangible assets.

ERILIEEER2A ZFFENEZ

EEAFEFR



35. WBEE @

WiEzFEE

EmILEAE (ME15)
7E
REET
XA

Be

36. TEME LA

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Net assets acquired:

Intangible assets (Note 15)

Inventories

Total consideration

Satisfied by:

Cash

RRBZEEMBARZFHBENT :

ALK

Name of company

EERRARLR

Base Rich Development Limited

Bauhinia Paints Limited

SHHRFAERAT

Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing

(Chengdu) Co., Limited

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

R/ S
Place of
incorporation/

registration

&t
Hong Kong

ABRLAE
British Virgin Islands

hEKE
-BEMELE

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

36. Principal Subsidiaries

35. Acquisition of Assets (continued)

FTHET
HK$'000

14,400
5,170

19,570

19,570

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

BRARE/
EMEREE
Nominal value
of issued capital/

registered capital

EER-2ER
Ordinary-HK$2

LER-1,00087
Ordinary-HK$ 1,000

ExEH
—28,000,000AR%
Capital
contribution-

RMB28,000,000

SESARA
BRTRE /R
BAZBA

“EEhE STINE

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Group
2009 2008

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

IREH

Principal activities

NERE

Property investment

REEZR

Investment holding

Ju]

HERE
REREH

Manufacture of and
trading in solvents and

coatings
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36. EEMEB AT @)

NAER

Name of company

KPZRERAF

Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing
Limited
ZHERB(LBERAA

Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing

(Shanghai) Co., Limited

Io-x

ZHERE (M) ARLF

Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing

(Shenzhen) Co., Limited

SHEHRIRERAT

Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing

(Shantou) Co., Limited

Bauhinia Paints (Thailand)

Manufacturing Limited

150

R /G S
Place of
incorporation/

registration

i

Hong Kong

hEKE
-BEMELE

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

hEKE
-BEMELE

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

hEKE
-BEMELE

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

£z
Thailand

36. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

BRARE/
EMEFZEE
Nominal value
of issued capital/

registered capital

EBR-20ER
ERER -600,000% 7T
Ordinary-HK$20
Deferred-HK$600,000

EAEH
-3,600,000%7T

Capital
contribution-

US$3,600,000

EAEH
~28,800,000/ 7
Capital
contribution-

HK$28,800,000

EAEH
~16,000,000/ 7
Capital
contribution-

HK$ 16,000,000

LB - 250,000
Ordinary-Baht 250,000

SEBAEL
BRARE /R
REZASH
% 2
Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/

registered capital

held by the Group

2009 2008
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

49%* 49%*

ERILIEEERRA

ZEEN\F

IEEH

Principal activities

BEREIREH

Trading in solvents and
coatings

HERE
RERER

Manufacture of and trading

o
Héﬁ» Ty

in solvents and coatings

HERE
REREH

Manufacture of and trading

Jmg
Héﬁ» Ty

in solvents and coatings

HERE
REREH

Manufacture of and trading

o
Héﬁ» Ty

in solvents and coatings

NERE

Property investment

—ERN\E-SBAERER



36. EEMEB AT @)

NAER

Name of company

HEHRE(TLERLT
(AERHRBECTERAR

Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals
(Hebei) Limited (formerly known as

Fusen Ink Chemical Co., Limited)

HEFRR(PILERAT

Bauhinia Variegata
Ink & Chemicals
(Zhongshan) Limited

HEMRB(NDERAT

Bauhinia Variegata Ink &
Chemicals (Zhejiang) Limited

THEER BENRHE)
EZERAR

Best Lubricant Blending
(Guangzhou Free Trade Zone)

Trading Limited

ESHRRERAR
Best Lubricant Blending Limited

REREBRAA

Big Youth Investments Limited

R /G S
Place of
incorporation/

registration

hEKE
-BEMELE

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

hEKE
-BENMELR

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

hEKE
-BENELE

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

hEKE
-BENELR

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

Hong Kong

BB
Hong Kong

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

36. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

BRARE/
EMEFZEE
Nominal value
of issued capital/

registered capital

EREH
18,000,000 AR#
Capital
contribution-

RMB18,000,000

EREH
-60,000,000/ 7T
Capital
contribution-

HK$60,000,000

EXREH
~13,000,000% 7
Capital
contribution-

US§13,000,000

EXREH
~200,000% 7

Capital
contribution-

US$200,000

EBR-281
Ordinary-HK$2

LB - 10,0008
Ordinary-HK$10,000

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

EESER
ER{A/ER
BAZESM
S L

Proportion of

-%%
nominal value of
issued share capital/

registered capital

held by the Group

2009 2008
100% N/A

100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

HERBEEH

Manufacture of and trading

in coatings

HERBREEH

Manufacture of and trading

in coatings

HERBREEH

Manufacture of and trading

in coatings

BEEEH

Trading in lubricants

BEHEH

Trading in lubricants

NERE

Property investment
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36. EEMEB AT @)

NRER

Name of company

B IERERAT
Concord Chemical Storaging

Limited
BELEEREARY
(M) BERAT
Dao Ming Business
Management Consultancy
Service (Shenzhen) Co., Limited

RRBECIERAR

Dongguan Hang Cheung

Petrochemical Limited

REAVEEBERRERAA

Dongguan Pacoil Lubricant

Co., Limited

REREENERAA

Da Chang Polymers (Huizhou)
Limited

152

R/
Place of
incorporation/

registration

Hong Kong

PEKE
-BENEt%R

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

PEKE
-BENEt%R
Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

PEKE
-BENEt%R
Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

PEKE
-BEMEL%R
Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

BRiTRE/
EMERZEE
Nominal value
of issued capital/

registered capital

EBR 160,008
Ordinary-HK$160,000

EXEH
=23,000,000%7
Capital
contribution-
HK$23,000,000

EREH
=10,000,000%7
Capital
contribution-
HK$10,000,000

EREH
=50,000,000%7
Capital
contribution-
HK$50,000,000

EREH
=24,500,000%7
Capital
contribution-
HK$24,500,000

REFSARME
BRTRA/ER
RAzED

2EAE SRENE

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Group
2009 2008

75% 75%

100% 100%

100% 100%

60% 60%

100% 100%

ERILIEEERRA

36. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

Principal activities

Investment holding

TRERRFARY

Corporate management and

consultation services

iy

HERE
REREH

Manufacture of and trading in
solvents and coatings

HEREERRA

Manufacture of and trading in
ubricants

HEREEEH

Manufacture of and trading in

coatings

—ERN\E-SBAERER



36. EEMEB AT @)

NRER

Name of company

Full Power Investments Limited

ERERDT
Goldchain Limited

ERERAT

Great Success Limited

RECIRRERAR
Handsome Chemical

Development Limited

RECIRBERAR

Handsome Chemical Services

Limited

EERHERERLT

Hang Cheung Coatings

(Hui Yang) Limited

EERHGNTERLT

Hang Cheung Coatings
(Zhejiang) Limited

R/
Place of
incorporation/

registration

ABELEE
British Virgin Islands

&
Hong Kong

BEL

Samoa

&
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

hEKE
-BENMELE
Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

hEKE
-BENMELE

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

36. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

BRiTRE/
EMERZEE
Nominal value
of issued capital/

registered capital

EBR-1%7

Ordinary-US§1

EER-28R
Ordinary-HK$2

EBR-1%7

Ordinary-US§1

LR -600,0008 7
Ordinary-HK$600,000

EER-60,00087
Ordinary-HK$60,000

EREH
~13,900,000% 7
Capital
contribution-

US§13,900,000

EREH
-3,000,000% 7T

Capital
contribution-

US$3,000,000

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

REFSARME
BRTRA/ER
RAzED

2EAE SRENE

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/

registered capital

held by the Group

2009 2008
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

Investment holding

NERE

Property investment

Investment holding

Investment holding

REAERY

Provision of treasury
services

BERE

BEREH

Manufacture of and trading in

Ju]

solvents and coatings

ERE
AREH

Manufacture of and trading in

ot

solvents and coatings
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36. EEMEB AT @)

PGIEL

Name of company

Hang Cheung Petrochemical

(International) Limited

EERBLIBRAR
Hang Cheung Petrochemical

Limited

BERRRIRERAT

Hang Cheung Procurement &

Logistics Limited

Hang Cheung (W.S.) Limited

BREHLHE (KPE) BRA

Hong Kong Bauhinia Paints

Manufacturing (Greater China)

Company Limited

BENBELCIERAR

Huizhou Shengda

Chemical Co., Limited

154

=1l

R/ S
Place of
incorporation/

registration

ARELHES
British Virgin Islands

3
Hong Kong

&t
Hong Kong

EED

Samoa

i

Hong Kong

hEKE
-BENELE

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

36. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

BRARE/
EMERZEE
Nominal value
of issued capital/

registered capital

EBR-1%En

Ordinary-US$1

B -800,0008 7
Ordinary-HK$800,000

EER-2ER
Ordinary-HK$2

EBR-1%En

Ordinary-US$1

EBR-149,66587
BER -3358 7
Ordinary-HK$ 149,665
Deferred-HK§335

ERER
~15,000,000 AR
Capital
contribution-

RMB15,000,000

SESARLE
BRTRE /R
BAZB

=

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/

registered capital

held by the Group
2009 2008
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100%**  100%**

75% 75%

ERILIEEERRA

IREH

Principal activities

HEREEREIREH
Manufacture of and trading in

solvents and coatings

HEREEREREN
Manufacture of and trading in

solvents and coatings
RERBREH
Merchandising of solvents and

coatings

Investment holding

Investment holding

HEREERY

Manufacture of and trading

in solvents

—ERN\E-SBAERER



36. EEMEB AT @)

NRER

Name of company

IFRECIRRERLE

Jiangmen Handsome Chemical

Development Limited

IMBELIRRERLE

Jiangmen Heng Wah Chemical

Development Limited

IRRBAHRERLE

Jiangmen Thansome Solvents

Production Limited

AFERBERAT
Pacific Oil & Chemical

Company Limited

APHHERRRERLT

Pacific Special-Lube Limited

Primer Limited

R/
Place of
incorporation/

registration

HE AR
-aEALE
Mainland China

- equity joint venture

PEKE
-BENEt%R

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

PEKE
-BENEL%R
Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

Hong Kong

&t
Hong Kong

G

Samoa

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

36. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

BRiTRE/
EMERZEE
Nominal value
of issued capital/

registered capital

EAEH
-90,800,000% 7
Capital
contribution-
HK$90,800,000

EAEH
=6,000,000 7

Capital
contribution-
HK$6,000,000

EAEH
=53,000,000%7
Capital
contribution-
HK$53,000,000

LB - 290,000 7

Ordinary-HK$290,000

EER-10,0008 T
Ordinary-HK$10,000

BBR-1%7n

Ordinary-US$1

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

SERSEREN
BRARE /R
RAZBEAH
ZEENE ZEINE
Proportion of

nominal value of

issued share capital/
registered capital

held by the Group

2009 2008

75% 75%

75% 75%

75% 75%

60% 60%

60% 60%

100% 100%

Principal activities

HEREERY

Manufacture of and trading

in solvents

HEREERY

Manufacture of and trading

in solvents

HEREERY

Manufacture of and trading in

solvents

HEREERRA
Manufacture of and trading

in lubricants

HEREERRR
Manufacture of and trading

in lubricants

Investment holding
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36. EEMEB AT @)

NRER

Name of company

Prophet Investments Limited

ENTREERERAR

Runfeng (Guangzhou)
Trading Co., Limited

RESERRERAT

Shenzhen Best Lubricant

Blending Limited

ZESTHEIFERAT

Taixing Jinjiang Chemical

Industry Co., Limited

RESTHEEZERAT

Taixing Jinjiang Chemical

Trading Co., Limited

156

R/
Place of
incorporation/

registration

ABELEE
British Virgin Islands

hEKE
-Eahat%x

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

hEKE
-BENELR
Mainland China
- wholly owned

domestic enterprise

EIRE:
-BEMELE

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

hEKE
-BEMELE

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

BRTRE/
EMERZEE
Nominal value
of issued capital/

registered capital

EBR-1%7

Ordinary-US§1

EREH
=200,000% 7T

Capital
contribution-

US$200,000

EREH
~1,000,000A K%
Capital
contribution-

RMB1,000,000

EAEH
—42,000,000/# ¢
Capital
contribution-

HK$42,000,000

EREH
~500,000 A R %

Capital
contribution-

RMB500,000

REFSARME
ERTRE /R
BEzaDk

285 SRIN

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Group
2009 2008

100% 100%

60% 60%

100% 100%

75% 75%

75% 75%

ERILIEEERRA

36. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

IEEH

Principal activities

REEZR

Investment holding

BEHRH

Trading in lubricants

Trading in lubricants

HEREERY

Manufacture of and trading

in solvents

BERN

Trading in solvents

—ERN\E-SBAERER
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NRER

Name of company

REETERRARAR

Tianjin Best Lubricant Blending
Co., Limited

TM Holding Limited

EBRBIR (RMER
BERE) ERAR

Totalle Procurement Logistics
(Macao Commercial Offshore)

Limited

EREE (£E) BERAF

Yip's H.C. (Holding) Limited

Yip's Chemical (BVI) Limited

EXREERAR
Yip's Ink and Chemicals
Company Limited

R/
Place of
incorporation/

registration

hEKE
-BENMELE

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

ABELEE
British Virgin Islands

Macau

Bt

Hong Kong

RBELRE
British Virgin Islands

BB
Hong Kong

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

36. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

BRTRE/
EMERZEE
Nominal value
of issued capital/

registered capital

ERER
—8,400,0008 7T

Capital
contribution-

HK$8,400,000

EBR- 18T
Ordinary - HK$1

EBR-100,0008%

Ordinary-MOP$100,000

EER-999,500/ 7T
R - 50087
Ordinary-HK$999,500
Deferred-HK$500

EBR 50087
Ordinary-HK$500

EBR-20087
Ordinary-HK$200

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

SEBAEL
BRTRA/HR
kEzBR
ZEENE ZZTNE
Proportion of

nominal value of

issued share capital/

registered capital

held by the Group
2009 2008
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100%**  100%**
100% 100%
100% 100%

IEEH

Principal activities

HERRERRM

Manufacture of and trading

in lubricants

HEBE
Holding of trade-mark

BERBRANRA |
EREEXRAN

Commercial and services
agents, overseas selling

activities and back offices

REZRR MRS

Investment holding and

provision of services

REnRk

Investment holding

BE2H

Trading in coatings
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NAER

Name of company

ERRE (8E) ERAT

Yip's Ink & Chemicals (Group)

Limited

ERRE (L) BRAT

Yip's Ink & Chemicals (Shanghai)

Company Limited

ERRE (Pi) ERAF

Yip's Ink & Chemicals
(Zhongshan) Company Limited

ERTRBRERAR

Yip's Industrial Holdings Limited

Yip's Pacific Limited

RI/E S
Place of
incorporation/

registration

i
Hong Kong

hEKE
-BENMELE

Mainland China
- wholly owned

foreign enterprise
HE AR
-BENELE
Mainland China

- wholly owned

foreign enterprise

ik

Hong Kong

ABELHE

British Virgin Islands

HABEMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

36. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

SEEARE
ERTRE /R
RAZB

“ERNE CERNE

BRIRE/
EMERZEE

Nominal value

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
of issued capital/ registered capital
held by the Group

2009 2008

registered capital

LER-287
Ordinary-HK$2

100% 100%

BREA
~4,340,000%7

100% 100%

Capital
contribution-

US$4,340,000

EXEH
—26,000,000/& 7

100% 100%

Capital
contribution-

HK$26,000,000

EER
-10,000%8 7

Ordinary -
HK$10,000

100% 100%

EER
-36,251,00087C
Ordinary-HK$36,251,000

60% 60%

ERILIEEERRA

IEER

Principal activities

REEZR

Investment holding

HERERER

Manufacture of and trading in

coatings

Manufacture of and trading in

coatings

REZR

Investment holding

REEZR

Investment holding

—ERN\E-SBAERER
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36. EEMEB AT @)

36. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

SESEREN
BRARK /R
ieA=pid
ZERNE ZRTNE
BRIRA/ Proportion of
B/ st AMERZEE nominal value of
Place of Nominal value issued share capital/
DRERE incorporation/ of issued capital/ registered capital FEERK
Name of company registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2009 2008
BIESERRERAR hEKE EXRER i il EEERR
(METES]) -RERELE ~3,800,000% 7
Zhanjiang Best Lubricant Mainland China Capital Trading in lubricants
Blending Limited (“ZBLB") - equity joint venture contribution-
US$3,800,000

* K

A B2 #IBauhinia Paints (Thailand)
Manufacturing Limited EEE 24K -
HARBEEARATZHBEAT °

FRAEBISE ZIEER 7 &R
ERAEMARARRAEZBESHERE
FEARDEDRRAEREELRE &
R MEBRISAA (NEXER)
EER2HEENZERN XN 2ERH
100,000,000,0005% 7t » AIE i B 13 7
BEAFERURARNDRNGBEEFERE
REREZREERO XN ZER -

* %

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2008-2009 Annual Report

As the Company controls the composition of the board of directors
of Bauhinia Paints (Thailand) Manufacturing Limited, this company

is treated as a subsidiary of the Company.

The deferred shares, which are not held by the Group, carry no
right to dividend or to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any
general meeting of the company. On a winding-up, the holders
of the deferred shares are entitled out of the surplus assets of
the company to a return of capital paid up on the non-voting
deferred shares but only when holders of ordinary shares, namely,
the Group, have received in full the return of capital paid on them

and, in aggregate, a total sum of HK$100,000,000,000.
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36.

37
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FEHE AR @
rx KRATRBEIBEEERD A ET
BNABEEEBEIEEZ80%R
20% - HRABE IRz —HEREILE
EREZ Rt (FREAETES®R
HMEE—EREESZSIR)  REAERE
BEEEERESFL1,190,0008 T
(RBEBIEEMEM T HAS) &
TIEEREARRRAZZEMBAF -
MEIBAEIAZ LT TERAAEEBE
Ez—#a7 .

BRYip's Chemical (BVI) Limited 22 )
HESEEN MEHEcCHBLRYAB
ERE KREABEXMUIREER
DA IBELAEMBARZEEE X
I ABESERY EMZE -

ERAIAEEZHBLADESER
EHELNEAXEAREEABZTEN
BAE - EEARIIHAMMBELAR 2
HESBRAIRRE -

EMBRAAR-ZEZTNF=ZRA=1t—H
FERNEAFEREETAEERS -

BHAEE

BREEE20FT I BB U B R RIS B K47
o R=ZBENF=ZA=+—8 &R
$RA1T1F3X12,764,0007% jT LA HLIE HA 4R
TER RUEEREARBEE -N=
EENF=ZA=+—BREARTERR
FFR333%T 2 REXNEBREHE
BCREBERR -

36.

37.

Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

*kk

ZBLB is owned legally as to 80% by the Company and 20% by
Zhanjiang Port Group Company Limited (“Zhanjiang Port”). Since
the only contribution by Zhanjiang Port is a piece of land where
ZBLB locates (which is also the only distribution it entitles upon
dissolution of ZBLB) and it is only entitled to receive a fixed rate
of dividend of approximately HK$1.19 million (deemed lease
payment for the piece of land where ZBLB locates) per annum,
ZBLB is deemed to be a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and the land injected by Zhanjiang Port does not form part of the

assets of the Group.

Except for Yip's Chemical (BVI) Limited which is held directly by
the Company, all other subsidiaries are indirectly held. Except
for the investment holding companies which have no specific
place of operation, all the above subsidiaries operate principally

in their respective place of incorporation/registration.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets
or liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at

31 March 2009 or at any time during the year.
Pledge of Assets

In addition to the bills receivable pledged as security for
the borrowings as disclosed in note 20, bank deposits of
HK$12,764,000 at 31 March 2008 were pledged to secure
short-term bank loans and were therefore classified as current
assets. The pledged bank deposits at 31 March 2008 carried
interest at 3.33% per annum and were released upon the

settlement of relevant short-term borrowings during the year.

ERIWVIEEERAR ZFFENEZZTALEFEEER
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